Low wages, employees and employers in Italy: a longitudinal analysis

Paola Anitori, Carlo De Gregorio, Annelisa Giordano – ISTAT anitori@istat.it, cadegreg@istat.it, giordano@istat.it ¹

Table of contents

Executive summary	2
Introduction	3
Sources, methodological aspects and concepts	3
Part 1. Incomes from dependent employment	5
1.1. Italian employees during years 2015-2022	5
1.2. Distributions by sector and main socio-demographic characteristics	10
1.3 Per capita earnings	13
Part 2. Employees with low earnings in industry and services between 2015 and 2022	16
2.1 Gross earnings and their components	16
2.1. The evolution of annual gross earnings	18
2.3. The employees with low earnings	20
2.4. Employees with low earnings on a longitudinal perspective	23
2.4. Employees who escaped the low-wage trap	27
2.5. Employees who never succeeded to escape the low-earnings trap	30
Part 3. Employers and low earnings	34
3.1. Business structure, employment and employees	34
3.2. Employers and gross earnings	35
3.3. Employers and employees with low earnings	39
3.5. The enterprises and the employees who escape from the trap of low earnings	40
3.6. The enterprises and the employees in trap of low earnings	42
Concluding remarks	43
References	44

¹ The authors are the only responsible for the content and the opinions expressed in this work, which do not involve at any rate Istat. They wish to thank the colleagues of Istat, and in particular those in the unit PSV (Giovanni Battista Arcieri, Lucia Coppola, Tiberio Damiani, Stefano De Santis, Daniela Ichim, Isabella Siciliani, Anna Maria Sgamba, Fabio Spagnuolo) with whom they shared the current work on the income register, and the colleagues working at the Population register and at the Business register; and those in charge of data collection, for their indispensable work

Executive summary

• This experimental exhaustive analysis of the Italian regular labour incomes is based on the integrated use of Istat statistical registers on income, population and businesses, and on microdata from social security records. The observed time span is 2015-2022.

Part 1. Labour incomes from employee jobs

- Between 2015 and 2022 real per capita labour income of 21 million Italian employees decreased significantly. COVID19-pandemic and 2022 inflation are mostly responsible for this trend, although even before 2020 the structural weakness of dependent work produced a sluggish income dynamics.
- A large share of employees shows very low labour income levels, with 25% of employees barely above 10,000 euro in 2022 and a half of them below 20,000 euro (at constant 2015 prices).
- Low-earnings mostly originates from the private sectors. Let alone agriculture and domestic workers, where low incomes and undeclared work coexist, industry and services produce a large portions of low-earnings.
- The distribution of incomes in the public sectors is less critical, although public employment witnessed a constant reduction in real gross earnings in the first part of the period, with a decrease of about 2,000 euro (-7%) in its median level between 2015 and 2020.
- The structural weakness of incomes is also reflected in the gender gap, especially in the private sectors. Between 2015 and 2022 it has been only slightly reduced, more often in presence of higher education level.

Part 2. Employees with low earnings in industry and services between 2015 and 2022

- Yearly gross earnings (YGE) declined in real terms: in general YGE were hit by the increased adoption of labour contracts of lower quality, namely short-term and part-time jobs, although in 2022 the effect on inflation worsened the situation.
- A substantial and rather stable share of employees dropped in the low-wage areas, especially low YGE, essentially due to the low-intensity of jobs. This affected their personal incomes with severe consequences even at the household level.
- Over the entire period, about 60 per cent of employees in 2022 experienced at least one year under the lowpay thresholds. In particular, only a minor share of these employees managed to bring their pay back above the thresholds, usually through better quality contractual conditions. A larger portion of the others either exited the status of employment or never succeeded to get rid of the "low pay trap" permanently.
- The tie between standard jobs and the level of hourly wages inevitably implies that the firms providing better pay conditions are also those where full-time, permanent jobs prevail. This is a relatively small subset of firms although they are large enough to involve an important amount of non-agricultural workforce; these firms belong to the more advanced service and industry activities where average hourly wage is set above 15 euros.

Part 3. Employers and low-earnings

- Apart from wage levels, operating on the wage spectrum is possible only by acting on job intensity through part-time and fixed-term contracts. Low-paid employees gradually experience lower intensities and durations, while hourly wages remain quite below the average.
- Micro-enterprises and individual firms produce very low per capita annual earnings due to lower levels of all the wage components: lower hourly earnings and lower intensity and duration of jobs.
- The economic activities with a high propensity to pay low wages emerge quite clearly. Most of them belong to services. In Horeca and recreation, heavily affected by undeclared work, more than two employees out of three is below YGE threshold. In support services, education and other household services more than 50% of employees have low annual earnings.
- Quitting low-pay sectors is generally the only way to escape low earnings, in as much as there are a few sectors there may be better opportunities to improve pay conditions. A higher propensity to change employer and economic activity is thus associated to improvements in earnings.

Introduction

In Italy, the level and distribution of employees' labor earnings has been at the center of a both academic and political debate, sometimes messy and mainly focused on the opportunity to set a minimum wage, generally intended as a minimum threshold of hourly earnings. This attention derives from the fact that Italy, at present, is among the five EU countries without a legal minimum wage. Although the European Parliament Directive 2022/2041 on adequate minimum wages does not compel Italy to enforce it by law, due to the high coverage rate of collective bargaining, the issue has remained on top of the agenda of the public debate. Most of the analyses emphasize the presence of a large share of low-wage workers in the private sector, and often stress the importance of disentangling all the components determining the wage level. The spread of non-standard forms of regular dependent employment - in particular part-time and short-term contracts - makes it compelling to look into annual and monthly earnings by separating the effects due to hourly earnings (once clearly defined) from those due to working time. This means going beyond hourly earnings (the usual target of minimum wage proposals) to take more properly into account the income flows deriving from earnings².

This paper does not enter directly into this debate nor into the details of what kind of minimum wage should or should not be introduced or what the exact definition of wage should be considered. Based on previous researches conducted in Istat on the quality and on the earnings of employees³, it tries to provide details and descriptive evidence on a longitudinal perspective (2015-2022) regarding a wide range of issues that surround the more general theme of incomes from dependent employment. Many tables and charts are used in order to document the empirical evidence of our investigations, and are founded on the experimental use of large scale databases such as Istat statistical registers on incomes, population and businesses. The integrated use of those registers offers uncountable opportunities to deepen the analysis and to describe exhaustively the topic of incomes from employment, with special attention to low incomes. A short premise provides a general overview of the statistical sources used in this paper and of the methodological context and concepts through which our analyses are developed.

Part 1 of the paper is dedicated to employees' labour incomes. The analysis mainly focuses on some distributive aspects and it is based on individual data for more than 20 million employees, examined by domain⁴: public sector and private sector, separately for industry and services, agriculture and domestic workers. In this section we show the heterogeneity of incomes, and provide some insights on the low income areas. In Part 2 the attention is shifted towards the gross earnings coming from the private non-agriculture sectors, the largest and most heterogeneous set of Italian employees. Here the analysis targets notional (or contractual) earnings in order to disentangle their nature independently from the windfall factors influencing effective labour earnings. The elementary components of gross earnings are thus investigated with reference to the nature of labour contracts: hourly earnings and working time components are jointly analysed in order to determine which effects lay behind the areas of low earnings. Longitudinal data in the eight-year period 2015-2022 helped us to characterize the cohorts of employees who succeeded to escape from the low earnings trap and those who never came out from low earnings conditions. Part 3 finally extends the analysis of part 2 in order to find evidences on the characteristics of employers and their role in generating poor employment conditions. At the end of the paper some conclusions are drawn and some of the numberless areas of further research are evidenced.

Sources, methodological aspects and concepts

In this paper, we integrate anonymized microdata from Istat statistical registers and administrative data. In particular, the population register reports for each individual some basic demographic information concerning

² Bavaro 2022, Bavaro, Raitano 2023, Crettaz, Bonoli 2010, Filandri, Struffolino 2019, Grimshaw 2011, Hallerod et al. 2015, Jansson et al. 2020, Marucci, De Minicis 2019, Ministero del lavoro 2021, Raitano et al.2019.

³ Anitori, Arcieri, et al. 2019, Anitori, De Gregorio et al. 2019, De Gregorio, Giordano 2014, 2016, De Gregorio, Giordano, Siciliani 2021, Istat 2019, 2022, 2023.

⁴ A lot of hints concerning the analysis of employees' incomes have been inspired by Atkinson (2008), though our rich database pushed us towards a more descriptive approach.

age, gender, citizenship and educational level. Additional information identifies the individuals resident in Italy, flagging those who are resident in private households. The available data used in the paper range from 2015 to 2022 and we refer to residents in private households at 31 December of each year⁵. Thus, we exclude from the analysis all employees not belonging to resident population⁶. We also exclude the entrepreneurs who are employees in the same enterprise they own and all the individuals who are in old-age pension schemes. In some analysis we also restrict the observed population to those aged 15-64 years.

The income register also refer to years 2015-2022 and it is structured in modules⁷: in this paper we focus on gross labour incomes that include social contributions paid by the worker and income taxes⁸. We partitioned the employees in four subgroups depending on the nature of the employer: public sector, private industry and services⁹, private agriculture and domestic workers (where, though, the employer is a private household). This partitioning, especially when referred to public administrations and private businesses, is based upon criteria that might not correspond exactly with the official allocation of economic units used in S13: this drawback will be soon avoided through the integration with Istat labour register. In the paper we will also experiment a provisional allocation of labour incomes by type of employer as provided by the business register. Moreover we will also use data from the specific module of the income register where total disposable income is estimated, a module mainly based on tax reports integrated with other non-taxable incomes, and from the module on pensions used to identify and exclude the retirees from the analysis. All the information we derive from the income register is referred to regular incomes and does not include irregular incomes deriving from irregular jobs or from irregularly worked hours within regular jobs (as in the case of false part-time jobs¹⁰). It is useful to remind that, in the case of dependent employment, the irregularity rate is estimated by National Accounts over 11%, with peaks of 32% in agriculture and more than 50% in domestic services. This information should be kept in mind where examining the results described in Part 1 of the paper. According to the most recent report from the Ministry of Economy and Finance, in 2020 the tax gap deriving from dependent employment was 2.4% corresponding to 3.9 billion euro, to be added to an additional amount of 10.9 billion euro of gap in social contributions, 2.5 billion of which to be paid by the workers¹¹.

Table I

Rate of non regular employment by economic activity. Year 2021					
Economic activity	%				
Agricolture	32,0				
Industry	4,8				
Construction	14,3				
Trade	5,5				
Transportation	5,8				
Horeca	14,9				
Information	3,8				
Finance	2,3				
Other business services	6,1				
Education	4,9				
Human health	5,1				
Recreation	19,4				
Domestic services	51,8				
Total	11,3				
Source: Istat, National accounts					

⁵ The age of individuals is referred to 31 December of the year.

⁶ About 250 thousands individuals, 0.02% of business register employment. Large part of them has very short labour contracts.

⁷ Modules relate to labour income (regular and irregular), pensions, non-pension monetary transfers and taxes.

⁸ Istat income register follows quite steadily the guidelines fixed in Unece Canberra Handbook (Unece 2011).

⁹ Often we shall refer for simplicity to these activities as "industry and service" omitting their private nature.

¹⁰ De Gregorio, Giordano (2014).

¹¹ Ministero dell'Economia (2023). Notice that in the case of self-employment, the estimated income tax gap was 69.7% in 2020.

The business register is referred to 2015-2021¹². It contains structural business statistics data on the enterprises of industry and services. There are about 4,5 million units in this domain, 1.5 million of which had at least one employee enrolled in some part of the year. From this register we also derive structural (NACE, size, governance) and performance indicators (profit and loss accounts) of each business. In particular, from the associated linked employer-employee register we also draw some information on those business owners enrolled as employees in the same enterprise they own.

Detailed data on the employees in industry and services, and in particular on their jobs and labour contracts, are derived from original social security data. From this source, it is possible to classify jobs according to qualitative and quantitative data, like gross earnings, gross hourly earnings, and contractual working time. Earnings in particular include social contributions paid by the worker and income taxes. We deliberately chose to concentrate on the individual variables defined in labour contracts in order to exclude all the events affecting effective gross earnings (like for instance overtime or labour retention schemes). These notional earnings are analysed in Part 2 and 3. The analysis in Part 1 on the contrary based on effective (and strictly) labour incomes and this explains why, for example, the effects of the pandemic come out there so clearly. In Part 2 and Part 3 where we focus on the quality of jobs by considering pay and duration of labour contracts, the extraordinary slump in 2020 labour earnings is much less visible.

Part 1. Incomes from dependent employment

1.1. Italian employees during years 2015-2022

Between 2015 and 2022, the number of individuals involved in dependent employment grew consistently in Italy though the level and dynamics of their labour incomes have been overall weak and could not resist the double impact of the pandemic and the inflation. Although these events were quite recent, the weakness of employees' gross incomes appeared quite clearly also in the first part of that period: 25% of employees could count on slightly more than 10.000 euro in the year before pandemics, and half of them hardly achieved 20 thousand euro (Table 1.1).

According to Istat income register, in 2022 there were about 21 million individuals with incomes from employee jobs in Italy, accounting for a total of more than 460 billion euro in labour gross earnings¹³. Compared to 2015, when there were just over 18 million employees, total earnings increased by 6.1 per cent, recovering the sharp decline in 2020 due to the pandemic. Between 2021 and 2022, however, this catch-up has been partially eroded by inflation: HICP grew in fact by 8.8% in 2022, and as a whole by 14.2% since 2015. As a result, average per capita income in 2022 was at the lowest level (just over 22,000 euro) of the entire time span, lower even than in the year of the pandemic.

The distribution of per capita annual gross earnings shows quite heterogeneous dynamics depending on the income level. In 2015, for example, the median annual gross earning was slightly above 21,000 euro; in subsequent years, median income suffered a slight erosion until 2019 and a conspicuous slowdown during pandemics, while 2022 inflation nullified the partial recovery registered the year before. The labour incomes laying above the median were, in general, progressively more resilient to the effects of pandemics, loosing purchasing power only when inflation picked up; during 2020, job retention schemes were in fact applied more intensively to individuals in the medium and lower wage classes¹⁴ and this helped them to preserve their incomes. Lower deciles, on the other hand have shown substantial resilience over time (with the exception of

¹² The 2022 version was made available late march 2024, too late for this paper.

¹³ According to the definitions adopted in the income register, and derived from the Canberra Manual (Unece 2011), labour income from dependent employment consists in the flows actually accruing to the employee from the employer, gross of income tax and of social contributions charged on employees, excluding any transfer for social security purposes but including job retention schemes. In this sense, in Part 1, we use the terms labour income and gross earnings as synonyms. All values referred to in this section are at constant prices 2015.

¹⁴ De Gregorio et al. (2021).

2020), especially with respect to inflationary pressures perhaps due to the likely impossibility of further earnings compression.

On the other hand, over the period under observation, the growth in the number of employees came with some appreciable changes in the composition of this workforce (Table 1.2). In 2015, more than 70 per cent of Italian regular employees were in the non-agricultural private sector, around 20 per cent in the public sector whilst the rest was almost equally divided between agriculture and domestic work¹⁵. Over 60 per cent of employees were between 35 to 54 years old, males prevailed over females by around 8 p.p. and the presence of workers with foreign citizenship was limited to a modest 10 per cent. Almost half employees had an upper secondary level of education, one third primary or lower secondary education, and the remaining 22 per cent a bachelor or doctoral level¹⁶.

This picture has not changed much over time, or changed very slowly. In the overall period, the share of employees in the non-agricultural private sector has increased by 2 p.p. as of 2022, notwithstanding the difficulties due to pandemics in 2020 and partially in 2021. At that time, social protection measures avoided mass redundancies but some personnel cuts occurred all the same¹⁷. In specular contrast, the share of employees in the public sector lost more than 1 p.p. between 2015 and 2022. The share of agriculture, on the other hand, remained more or less constant until 2020 - a year in which it grew slightly, benefiting from the fact that agriculture was not subject to the economic lockdowns - and started to reduce from 2021. The share of domestic workers¹⁸ declined steadily, with the exception of 2020 when layoffs were discouraged through job retention.

Looking at the composition by age, we observe a progressive reduction of individuals in the middle aged classes and a consequent increase in employees with 55 to 64 years. This trend was mainly caused by the demographic ageing of the Italian population¹⁹. Also the number of new and younger employees progressively increased, whilst the workers with 25-34 years decreased steadily up to 2020 and then showed a small recover in the following years. Meanwhile, the presence of female remained substantially stable, with a slight increase only at the end of the period. The share of employees with education above ISCED 3 also increased, quite slowly though, while that of individuals with Italian citizenship slightly decreased.

If we divide the time span into two intervals, the first from 2015 to 2019 and the second from 2019 to 2022 (Table 1.3), we observe that in the first sub period the overall number of employees has grown by 1.9 per cent but at the same time real per capita incomes did not move. This has been mainly due to the employees in industry and services who, although grown in number by 2.5 per cent, registered an unchanged per capita labour income. On the contrary, in the public sector the slight increase of the employees has been mirrored by a slight reduction in per capita income. In agriculture, though, both the number of employees and per capita YGE had increased, whilst domestic workers experienced a reduction in number but a growth of their incomes. Looking at the dynamics by age group, between 2015 and 2019, there was a clear reduction in the number of workers between the ages of 35 and 44 (with per capita gross earnings essentially unchanged) and an increase in the extreme age classes, mostly due to the effect of demographic trends. It should be noted, however, that per capita incomes of these classes shrunk, albeit slightly. The share of foreign employees from Africa and Asia also increased, but only the former had suffered a reduction in the average income.

In the second sub-period from 2019 to 2022, total employment has increased by 1.6 per cent but per capita gross earnings sharply declined by 2 per cent, and this contraction has been quite generalized. Public employees suffered more than others the impact of inflation and pandemic: all age groups were affected, and women more than men, regardless to occasional employment growth. Between 2019 and 2022, the average

¹⁵ From now on, we intend by domestic employees the personnel employed in activities of private households as employers, corresponding to section T of NACE classification.

¹⁶ The data on the level of education are derived from the Population register, and the available series starts from 2018.

¹⁷ Most of them were probably retirements or voluntary exits.

¹⁸ The share of regular employees in agriculture and in the household sector is very small due to extensive use of undeclared or 'grey' work for tax and social contributions evasion purposes.

¹⁹ See Istat 2023.

gross earnings of those with upper secondary education has also lost ground and this also happened to immediately higher ISCED levels.

Table 1.1

2015. Index: base 2015=100)								
Indicators	2015	2016	2017	2018	2019	2020	2021	2022
N. employees (000)	18.324	18.633	19.130	19.500	19.729	19.646	20.073	20.705
Index (2015=100)	100	101,7	104,4	106,4	107,7	107,2	109,5	113,0
Total Income (000)	433.721	446.619	449.720	459.541	466.108	443.232	466.207	460.128
Index (2015=100)	100	103,0	103,7	106,0	107,5	102,2	107,5	106,1
Per capita Income	23.669	23.970	23.509	23.566	23.625	22.561	23.226	22.223
Index (2015=100)	100	101,3	99,3	99,6	99,8	95,3	98,1	93,9
Percentiles								
р5	2.658	2.768	2.651	2.648	2.683	2.424	2.565	2.615
p10	4.612	4.834	4.644	4.636	4.706	4.021	4.427	4.566
p15	6.572	6.941	6.657	6.652	6.746	5.683	6.305	6.568
p20	8.596	9.035	8.714	8.709	8.800	7.398	8.252	8.494
First quartile	10.546	10.996	10.654	10.651	10.775	9.216	10.184	10.335
p30	12.633	13.109	12.731	12.724	12.875	11.147	12.195	12.279
p35	14.887	15.407	14.972	14.949	15.096	13.230	14.353	14.260
p40	17.241	17.677	17.230	17.173	17.295	15.333	16.545	16.214
p45	19.383	19.681	19.268	19.209	19.279	17.394	18.608	17.950
Median	21.206	21.486	21.070	21.022	21.067	19.298	20.471	19.537
p55	22.823	23.079	22.684	22.712	22.725	21.148	22.199	21.024
p60	24.435	24.634	24.218	24.248	24.235	23.004	23.782	22.548
p65	26.153	26.264	25.846	26.012	25.923	24.816	25.490	24.083
p70	28.227	28.281	27.842	27.924	27.860	26.836	27.430	25.865
Third quartile	30.510	30.577	30.134	30.263	30.192	29.291	29.703	28.193
p80	33.085	33.186	32.774	33.069	32.979	32.183	32.476	30.940
p85	36.606	36.640	36.245	36.609	36.530	35.865	36.088	34.397
p90	42.109	42.043	41.646	41.844	41.909	41.376	41.617	39.560
p95	54.062	54.281	53.528	53.464	53.699	53.301	53.748	50.575
Sources: Istat, Income Re	gister 2015-20	22, Population	Register 201	5-2022				
Notes: (a) Only individuals with annual gross earnings over 1.000 Euro								

Table 1.2

Total employees (a), by economic sector, main demographic characters and year. Years								
2015-2022 (%)								
Economic sector,	2015	2016	2017	2018	2019	2020	2021	2022
Demographic characters								
ECONOMIC SECTOR (b)								
Public sector	19,9	19,6	19,1	18,9	18,6	19,1	19,0	18,7
Private Industry and services	71,6	72,1	72,6	72,9	73,2	72,4	72,8	73,6
Agricolture	4,1	4,1	4,1	4,1	4,0	4,2	4,1	3,8
Domestic employees	4,1	4,0	3,9	3,8	3,7	4,0	3,9	3,6
AGE CLASS (c)								
15-24	5,7	5,8	6,3	6,6	6,8	6,4	7,0	7,5
25-34	19,5	19,3	19,0	18,9	18,8	18,7	18,9	19,2
35-44	27,7	26,9	25,9	24,9	24,0	23,5	22,7	22,1
45-54	29,2	29,2	29,0	28,8	28,6	28,7	28,2	27,6
55-64	16,8	17,5	18,1	18,7	19,4	20,2	20,6	20,9
GENDER								
Females	46,0	46,0	46,0	45,9	45,9	45,8	45,9	46,1
Males	54,0	54,0	54,0	54,1	54,1	54,2	54,1	53,9
EDUCATION LEVEL								
Up to Lower secondary				04.0	00.0	00.0	00.7	07.0
education (ISCED 0-2)				31,0	30,3	29,3	28,7	27,6
Upper secondary education				176	48.0	48.0	170	18.2
(ISCED 3)				,0	40,0	40,0	-1,5	40,2
Up to short-cycle tertiary				56	6.0	60	6.6	69
education (ISCED 4-5)				0,0	0,0	0,0	0,0	0,5
Bachelor's or equivalent level (ISCED 6)				15,1	15,0	15,9	16,0	16,4
Up to PhD or their equivalent				0.7	0.0	0.0	0.0	• •
level (ISCED 7-8)				0,7	0,8	0,8	0,8	0,9
CITIZENSHIP (by area)								
Italians	89,5	89,7	89,6	89,5	89,3	89,0	89,1	89,0
EU	3,4	3,4	3,3	3,3	3,2	3,3	3,1	2,9
Extra-EU	2,5	2,4	2,3	2,3	2,3	2,3	2,2	2,2
Africa	1,6	1,6	1,7	1,8	2,0	2,1	2,2	2,3
Asia	2,2	2,2	2,3	2,3	2,4	2,6	2,5	2,6
Other	0,8	0,8	0,8	0,8	0,8	0,9	0,9	0,9
Total	100	100	100	100	100	100	100	100
			-			-	-	

Source: Istat, Income Register 2015-2022, Population Register 2015-2022

Notes: (a) Only individuals with annual gross earnings over 1.000 Euros at constant 2015 prices; (b) residual sectors dropped. The sum does not add up to 100; (c) Only age classes with a share > 0.5%. The sum does not add up to 100

Table 1.3

Employees and gross earnings (a) by year,	economic sector and main demographic characters. Yea	rs
2015-2022 (Average annual rate of change)		

	2015-20	19	2019-2022				
Economic sector,		Per capita		Per capita			
Demographic characters	N. employees	earnings	N. employees	earnings			
ECONOMIC SECTOR							
Public sector	0,3	-0,2	1,9	-2,8			
Private Industry and services	2,5	0,0	1,9	-2,0			
Agricolture	1,4	2,0	0,0	0,9			
Domestic employees	-0,4	1,1	1,0	-0,7			
AGE CLASS (b)							
15-24	67	0.2	5.0	_1 1			
25.34	0,7	0,2	3,0	-1,1			
25-54	1 7	0,7	2,0	-0,3			
JJ-44	-1,7	-0,1	-1,2	-1,0			
40-04	1,3 E 7	-0,1	0,4	-2,0			
53-04	5,7	-0,0	4,0	-2,9			
GENDER							
Females	1,8	0,2	1,7	-1,8			
Males	1,9	-0,2	1,5	-2,2			
EDUCATION LEVEL (c)							
Up to Lower secondary							
education (ISCED 0-2)			-1,4	-2,2			
Upper secondary education							
(ISCED 3)			1,8	-2,7			
Up to short-cycle tertiary							
education (ISCED 4-5)			6,8	-0,8			
Bachelor's or equivalent level							
(ISCED 6)			4,6	-2,9			
Up to PhD or their equivalent							
level (ISCED 7-8)			6,8	-0,2			
CITIZENSHIP (by area)							
Italian	1,8	-0,1	1,5	-2,1			
EU	0,1	3,4	-0,9	0,7			
Europa extra-EU	-0,3	2,1	0,3	0,1			
Africa	6,9	-0,6	6,9	0,4			
Asia	4,5	1,8	4,7	-0,7			
Other	1,9	1,6	4,8	-0,4			
Total	1,9	0,0	1,6	-2,0			
Sources: Istat, Income Register 2015-2022	2, Population Register 2015-	-2022					

Notes: (a) Only individuals with annual gross earnings >1000 Euros; (b) Only age classes with share > 0.5%; (c) ISCED classification groupings: respectly 0-1-2, 3, 4-5, 6, 7-8

1.2. Distributions by sector and main socio-demographic characteristics.

The distribution of employees' incomes in the period under scrutiny reflects their structural weakness and has also been strongly marked by the pandemic and inflation. Nevertheless, one of the most important aspects to be underlined has to do with the heterogeneity of incomes by domain. the three domains in the private sectors concentrate most of low income earners, while the public sector provide a sort of benchmark with relatively stable and decent income levels, although at a standstill in nominal terms from the very initial years of the period.

Chart 1.1 illustrates the distribution of employees by level of gross earnings²⁰. Two elements are clearly noticeable: compared to 2015, in the pandemic year the bulk of employees earning between 19,000 and 35,000 euro per year shrinked drastically. At the same time the number of individuals with gross earnings below 8,000 euro increased by one percentage point (around 1.9 million employees) and the number of those earning between 11,000 and 19,000 euro by half a percentage point (around 900 thousand individuals). The effects of job retention measures put in place by the Government to offset the effects of the lockdown are evident. The partial recovery in 2021 returned the curve to roughly the initial shape in 2015, but a net shift towards lower income classes occurred in 2022, quite generalized although with some distinguishes. The number of income earners below 7,000 euro was stable, those between 7,000 and 25,000 euro increased sharply and those over this threshold decreased a little, catching up the levels of 2020 again.

More interestingly, when examined by economic sector, the distribution of gross incomes reveals a large heterogeneity (Chart 1.2). The public sector has a relatively concentrated distribution while in industry and services there is a large portion of low and very low income owners. In agriculture and domestic services incomes are indeed very low as compared to the other sectors, with very few employees above 10 thousands euro on an annual basis.

The distribution by income class in the public sector appears strongly concentrated between 17,000 euro and 40,000 euro. The quasi-bell shape is multi-modal in the central part, each peak probably representing a subset of employees with the same contractual conditions (and therefore very similar annual gross earnings): the public sector, in fact, is characterised by stronger and more homogeneous rules in labour contracts that discipline the different working profiles in different administration bodies. The curve shows a rather small backward shift towards the lower classes in the year of the lockdown and a further, but sharper, shift of the same negative sign in 2022 following the blow of inflation. In this case, the increase of individuals sliding towards lower income classes is progressively more pronounced for those who earned more than 27,000 euro in the previous year.

With regard to industry and services, in 2020 the increase in the number of workers who moved into lower income classes is spread over almost all classes; this was due (as mentioned before) to job retention schemes and to the interruption of lower quality jobs (especially short-term). The most evident increase regarded two subgroups: those who fell down into the classes up to 10,000 euro and those between 13,000 and 20,000 euro. In 2021, the distribution partly recovered the 2015 shape, except for the slight increase in the number of workers with less than 10,000 euro, who continued to benefit from the social measures started the year before. In 2022, on the other hand, the curve shows a polarisation between those (over 27,000 euro and under 7,000 euro) who maintained their status (albeit for different reasons) and those within this range who clearly worsened their income conditions.

By restricting the view to the extreme years of the period, if one looks at cumulate distributions, several facts are worth noticing (Chart 1.3). Firstly, the difference between the performance of the public and the private sector in 2022: the cumulate curve for civil servants shows a drift to the left and, as mentioned above, the worst performance is associated with income classes with more than 27,000 euro. The lowest quintile in 2015 was about 21,000 euro and decreased to 17,000 euro in 2022. Similarly, the third decile decreased from 24,000 to

²⁰ Income classes of 1,000 EUR (at constant prices 2015). Years from 2016 to 2019 have been omitted due to the substantial similarity of their distributions to 2015.

21,000 euro and then the gap narrows as income increases. In industry and services, on the other hand, we see a greater resilience among the income classes below 10,000 euro (possibly due to job retention schemes in act until 2022) and a smoother effect on the rest of the income classes. A deterioration is evident mostly between the median and the third quartile of the curve. In 2015, for instance, the sixth decile was at 22,000 euro whilst in 2022 it went down to 20,000 euro.

The situation is different in agriculture where a partial improvement is detected in 2022 as the number of those earning between 7,000 and 17,000 euro increases. This phenomenon should be better investigated but could be linked to the partial emersion of undeclared or 'grey' jobs. A slight inversion of the trend can also be observed in 2022 among domestic workers, although in this case it is much more contained: the rigidity of the curve also indicates a very pronounced income compression, which could also in this case be linked to phenomena of irregular work not captured by the data.

Chart 1.1. Distributions of Italian employees by gross earnings class and years (%, values in .000 euro at constant prices 2015)





Chart 1.2. Distribution of Italian employees by sector, gross earnings class and years (%, values in .000 euro at constant prices 2015)







1.3 Per capita earnings

The public and the private side of dependent employment tell different stories and seem to represent opposite realities, with structural differences which do emerge clearly also if we consider how labour incomes are distributed. The weakness of private employees are actually quite structural, and this fact is revealed clearly if we consider age and gender gaps. Incomes from employment often do not imply acceptable household incomes, especially if agriculture and domestic workers are considered.

In 2022 the average gross earnings of an employee with 25 years was about 18,000 euro if working in the public sector and about 14,000 euro in the private sector. For those who were 50 years old their respective YGE was respectively about 32,000 and 26,000 euro. The age gap is very high, especially in industry and services while it is lower in agriculture (9,200 vs. 10,300 euro) and among domestic workers (7,700 vs 8,300 euro), where earnings are very thin and there are no meaningful age gaps.

The analysis so far has shown that between 2015 and 2022, given the almost stable employment structure, the main cause of the deterioration in the income conditions of Italian employees has depended more on inflation than on pandemics. The trend in per capita gross earnings confirms a net reduction between 2015 and 2022 for employees in all age classes, especially in the public sector (Chart 1.4). In 2020 the deterioration of per capita levels for public employees was particularly sharp for those over 45 years, but further deterioration happened in 2022, this time affecting all ages. In industry and services the reduction in per capita income in 2022 resembles the trend shown in 2020 although people with 25-34 years appear to be better off in 2022.

In agriculture, on the contrary, per capita levels increase both in 2020 and in 2022 regardless of pandemic or of the inflation boost: in particular, in 2022 they increase more than in 2020 for those below 45 years. Among domestic workers per capita gross earnings increased in 2022 only up to the age of 38, is table up to 52 and decreased steadily after that age.

As the estimates by gender and age indicate (Chart 1.5), it's no surprise that women show generally lower pay levels than their male colleagues: but the gap is definitely greater in the private sector and in agriculture than in the public sector. Among domestic workers, where males are a minority, the gap between genders is smaller and decreases with age.

In the public sector a 40 years old woman earned on average less than 24.000 euros per year, and the gap with men is about 6.000 euros; it remains constant at least until the age of 60, and then narrows slightly. Among the private employees, a woman in her 40s earns about 16.000 euro that is 8.000 euro less than a man of the same age, but the gap widens as age increases. A similar trend can be seen in agriculture, although a woman in her 40s earns 8.000 euro and the gap with her male colleagues is about 3.000 euro. Among domestic workers the gap remains constant at around 3.000 euro independently from ages, at least up to 58 years and then narrows considerably.

Differences in per capita income by sex are quite remarkable also according to educational achievements. Females with at most upper secondary education suffer the worst difference with the corresponding male collegues (more than 7.000 euro) and this difference remains constant over the years (Table 1.4). Things improve for more educated females: although in 2018 a female bachelor earns around 28,000 euro against 44,000 euro of an analogous male, the difference seems to start dropping in 2020 and more sharply in 2022. The same happens for females with a master or a PhD. Females with lower levels of education, instead, are constantly worse off in all years and no improvements have really occurred over time.

Since agriculture and domestic workers are traditionally the least educated, we limit the comparison by gender and education level to the employees of the two main economic sectors (Table 1.5). Here the difference in the levels of gross earnings stands out. In 2018, in the public sector, a woman with primary education (or a diploma) earned 28 per cent (24 per cent) less than a man, while in the private sector a woman with the same educational achievements earned 47 per cent less than her male colleague (46 per cent for graduates). These gaps increased in the following years only in the public sector, as in the private sector the situation only altered in the year of the pandemic and then returned to almost the initial level in 2022. Among those with an

educational qualification higher than ISCED 3, despite the fact that the gap between genders and sectors is still considerable, a slight narrowing of the gender gaps is observed in 2022 compared to 2018 in both sectors.

Things are very different among those who have at least a university degree. The gap in annual earnings between women and men with a degree in the public sector is 40 per cent in 2018 and 2020 but drops to 34 per cent in 2022. In the private sector, on the other hand, it reaches 70 per cent in 2015 and narrows to 61 per cent in 2022. In the public sector the gender gap in gross earnings narrows among those above ISCED 6 (around 31 per cent in 2018 and 26 per cent in 2022). In industry and services, instead, having a doctorate or a master's degree means for women earning 44 per cent less than men in 2022, a figure lower than that in 2018 but still quite impressive.

A final look at household disposable equivalent incomes reveals that the households with only public employees or with at least one civil servant plus at least one private employee are best off since they have a higher probability to belong to the upper quintiles. On the contrary, households whose members are private employees lay more probably in the third quintile, and if members are employed in agriculture or as domestic workers, their households finish more probably in the lower quintiles: this happens either if there are no members in the household working in other sectors and if there is at least one private employee.

Households with two members are more frequently placed in the highest quintile, presumably because there are two incomes (e.g. both are labour incomes or one is labour income and the other one comes from a pension). Households with three or more members, instead, are definitely in the lowest quantiles, probably because some of the members are too young to work or because there are unemployed components.

Chart 1.4. Per capita gross earnings by sector and age. Years 2015, 2020 and 2022 (Values at constant prices 2015)







Age

Chart 1.5. Per capita annual gross earnings by sector and gender. Year 2022 (Values at constant prices 2015)

Table 1.4

Per capita gross earnings (a), by year, gender and education(b). Years 2018,2020,2022 (values at constant 2015

prices)					 	
	20	18	20	20	2022	
Education level	Females	Males	Females	Males	Females	Males
Up to Lower secondary education (ISCED 0-2)	13.990	20.664	12.950	19.350	12.913	19.294
Upper secondary education (ISCED 3)	18.809	26.260	17.544	24.697	17.144	24.075
Up to short-cycle tertiary education (ISCED 4-5)	20.169	27.606	19.810	27.268	19.832	26.458
Bachelor's or equivalent level (ISCED 6)	28.652	44.308	28.381	43.517	27.150	40.492
Up to PhD or their equivalent level (ISCED 7-8)	32.545	45.143	34.724	47.100	34.263	45.280
Total	19.674	26.583	18.960	25.493	18.704	24.911
One was lated because Desister 0045 0000, Desulation Desister	0045 0000					

Sources: Istat, Income Register 2015-2022, Population Register 2015-2022 Notes: (a) Only individuals with annual gross earnings (at constant prices) >1000 Euros; (b) ISCED classification groupings: respectly 0-1-2, 3, 4-5, 6, 7-8

Table 1.5

Gender-gap in per capita gross earnigs (a), by education level (b) and economic sector. Years 2018, 2020, 2022 (Index. Base: Females=100)

	F	Public secto	r	Private (industry and service		
Education level	2018	2020	2022	2018	2020	2022
Up to Lower secondary education (ISCED 0-2)	128	130	131	147	151	148
Upper secondary education (ISCED 3)	124	128	128	146	148	145
Up to short-cycle tertiary education (ISCED 4-5)	128	129	126	145	149	143
Bachelor's or equivalent level (ISCED 6)	140	140	134	170	169	161
Up to PhD or their equivalent level (ISCED 7-8)	131	130	126	152	147	144
Total	126	128	126	143	144	141
Sources: Istat. Income Register 2015-2022. Population Register 20						

Notes: (a) Only individuals with annual gross earnings (at constant prices) >1000 Euros; (b) ISCED classification groupings: respectly 0-1-2, 3, 4-5, 6, 7-8

Table 1.6

nouseneras man acreast one em	projec, by quintile	or alopoouble	equivalentino	onne. Tear Lor	(Opoolanzailon
rates)					
Households	l quintile	ll quintile	III quintile	IV quintile	V quintile
Sector of employement of					
households components					
Only private (I&S) sector	106	105	103	96	90
Only public sector	35	75	97	133	161
Only agricolture	271	128	61	28	11
Only domestic workers	287	141	50	14	8

Households with at least one employee, by quintile of disposable equivalent income. Year 2021 (Specialization

Public and private (I&S) sectors	20	56	109	148	168
Private (I&S) and agricolture sectors	151	149	104	67	30
Private (I&S) and domestic sectors	167	170	101	48	14
Other combinations	124	127	109	85	55
N. of components					
One	97	85	111	114	93
Two	77	91	91	104	136
Three	89	100	98	105	108
More than three	130	119	100	80	71
Citizenship of components					
Only Italian	83	93	103	109	112
Mixed	164	140	92	59	44
Onlyforeign	238	152	72	27	10
N. of components below 14 yrs.					
None	88	91	101	107	112
One	125	121	98	85	71
More than one	144	134	94	72	57
		-			

ources: Istat, Income Register 2015-2022, Population Register 2015-2022

Part 2. Employees with low earnings in industry and services between 2015 and 2022

2.1 Gross earnings and their components

The characterizing elements of per capita YGE have recently been analyzed by separating three elementary components: hourly wages, monthly intensities and duration of employment (Istat, 2022). The general conclusion was that wage inequalities derive from the interaction of hourly wages and working time, and that referring solely to the level of hourly wages – as it often happens in the national public and policy debate - is largely insufficient and cannot ensure comprehensive explanations neither of wage variability nor of the large extent of low wage areas. In this section we extend the analysis to the eight-year period 2015-2022 by adopting a similar theoretical approach.

In particular, we focus on gross earnings as defined in labour contracts, where they are intended as theoretical gross earnings, in the sense that they represent the gross earnings the employee would have "theoretically" received in the absence of events that may give rise to notional crediting or to occasional increase or decrease in monthly pay. Production bonuses are thus excluded, as also the amounts due for untaken vacations or vacations themselves, arrears due by law or by contracts related to previous years, and pay items related to actual work performance (e.g., overtime). Instead, all recurring competencies normally found in monthly pay (shift allowances, contracted overtime, and values subject to ordinary contributions referring to recurring fringe benefits) are included. In this sense, earnings are gross of both income taxation and employee social contributions. If actual gross earnings had been chosen for the analysis, they would have been affected by the occurrence of such events especially in annual or monthly totals. Our objective here is focusing on a more stable concept of earnings and that's why in the rest of the paper we shall use the term gross earnings while referring to theoretical earnings.

The case of job retention schemes is paradigmatic. During pandemics, the use of job retention schemes was extended to about one half of Italian employees in industry and services²¹. Employers were allowed to stop paying for their employees, while the Government subsidized, through social transfers, the income of those individuals and above all their employers. In the analyses made in Part 1 of this work this effect emerged clearly since the object of the analyses was the actual monetary flows from employers to employees. In the analyses of Part 2 and 3, instead, the effect will not be visible, since low earnings dynamics are studied independently from this kind of events: during labour retention schemes, formal labour contracts remained unchanged. The use of theoretical gross earnings, as we adoptin this contexts, is thus intended to target the structural components of remunerations.

At the individual level, YGE is split by simple algebra as the product of three components. Hourly gross earnings (HGE) are derived as the ratio between annual amount of contractual gross earnings and total workable hours (WH):

$$HGE = \frac{\sum YGE}{\sum WH}$$

Monthly intensity (MOI) is computed as the ratio between workable hours and the number of months in the year in which the employee had a labour contract (NM) of whatever length:

$$MOI = \frac{\sum WH}{\sum NM}$$

The duration (DUR) is the average number of months covered in the year, at least partially, by a labour contract and the average is calculated with respect to the N employees belonging to the domain under scrutiny:

$$DUR = \frac{\sum NM}{N}$$

Using this little formalization, YGE is given by the product of these three components:

$$YGE = HGE * MOI * DUR$$

The analysis of YGE and its components is here extended to the period 2015-2022 by taking advantage of the progressive availability of Istat statistical register and of the opportunities opened up by their integrated use, such as analyzing yearly data on earnings longitudinally and comparing trends in the observed period in order to study the evolution of their wages and the transitions to and from low-wage areas.

To summarize some results, we found that over the period examined, YGE declined in real terms: while in 2022 this can be explained by the growth in the inflation rate, more generally YGE were hit by the increased adoption of labour contracts of lower quality, namely short-term and part-time jobs. A substantial, and rather stable over time, share of employees dropped in the low-wage areas, especially low YGE areas, due essentially to the low-intensity of employment relationships which has affected their income conditions with important consequences even at the household level. Over the entire period, about 60 per cent of the employees experienced at least one year under the thresholds of low pay. In particular, only a minor portion of these employees succeeded to bring their pay back to the above thresholds²² (usually through better quality contractual conditions), whilst a larger share either exited the status of employment (probably not voluntarily) or never managed to permanently get rid of the "low pay trap".

²¹ De Gregorio et al. 2021.

 $^{^{22}}$ As it will be cleared further on, two thresholds have been estimate, one on YGE and one on HGE. The first one is fixed at 60% of the corresponding overall median, the second at 66% of the median calculated on standard jobs.

2.1. The evolution of annual gross earnings

Between 2015 and 2022, the number of employees in business and services rose by about two million (Table 2.1)²³. This significant growth (+16%) has affected not so much the average age of employees (shallowly increased from 39.5 to 40.3 years) as their whole age structure. In particular, we notice a sort of polarization. On the one side, the increase in the weight of the younger age groups due to the flows of new entrants (despite the stop in the year of the pandemic) and, on the other side, the increase in the older groups (due to the annual drift of age cohorts) resulting in a partial retreat in the relative weight of the middle age classes. The weight of foreign citizens grew by about one percentage point - albeit limited to the contribution of African and Asian individuals – as well as the educational level of employees due to the slow extinction of people with lower ISCED scores.

Over the same period, YGEs lost 8.4 percent of their value in real terms, ranking below the level attained in 2015. This result was largely determined by the dynamics of consumer prices, particularly in 2022, but it can be also linked to the decline in YGE already manifested in the previous years when inflation was decidedly modest (Table 2.2). A significant exception is 2020. The extensive use of job retention schemes - with almost half of the employees involved - supported employment relationships mainly among holders of standard jobs (i.e. full-time open-ended contracts). Consequently, the growth in per capita YGE (+2.2 percent compared to 2019) derives from the decrease of employees with non-standard contracts (whose earnings are generally lower).

Net of the pandemic year, the negative dynamics of YGE derives from the combination of the reduction in real HGE and the decline in the intensity and duration of jobs that took place until 2018 and after 2020. Considered by gender, this dynamic does not reveal any specific trend: the structural evidence that shows a 30% higher YGE for men remains constant in the period, and depends only for a lesser part by differences in HGE, whilst much more important is the role played by the monthly intensity of labor relations. The latter evidence can be explained, in turn, by the extensive use of female workforce with part-time contracts.

Changes in the composition of employees by type of contract also seem to have played a decisive role in determining the decline in per capita wages (Table 2.3). Although open-ended contracts (full-time or part-time) reveal a substantial stability in YGE, since 2017 their weight has gradually and significantly decreased, net of the rebound observed in 2020. In 2022 the incidence of standard jobs as compared to 2015 lost about 4 percentage points in terms of employees, whilst the incidence of part-time positions, also on an open-ended basis, decreased by about 2.5 percentage points. The increase in the number and relative weight of fixed-term employees has proceeded hand in hand with the simultaneous reduction in hourly wages since the early years of the observed period, and in the intensity of jobs.

²³ As in the rest of Part 2 and 3 of this paper, the figure refers to employees between the ages of 15 and 64 who are part of the resident household population as of December 31 of the reference year, net of entrepreneurs and old-age pension holders: entrepreneurs often result as employees of the same enterprise that they own, so we excluded them from the analysis. Specifically we included all individuals with at least one earning event from employment relationships with non-agricultural private sector enterprises.

Employees, by year and	d main demo	ographic ch	naracters.	Years 2015	5 -2022 (Nur	nber in thos	usands. %	
distributions)								
Demographic								
characters	2015	2016	2017	2018	2019	2020	2021	2022
Total	13.026	13.279	13.814	14.144	14.339	14.107	14.530	15.059
GENDER								
Females	41,1	41,2	41,6	41,7	41,8	41,2	41,3	41,6
Males	58,9	58,8	58,4	58,3	58,2	58,8	58,7	58,4
AGE CLASS								
15-24	8,1	8,3	9,3	9,6	9,9	9,1	10,0	10,6
25-34	23,9	23,5	23,3	23,1	22,8	22,6	22,5	22,3
35-44	29,9	28,9	27,7	26,7	25,8	25,3	24,3	23,4
45-54	26,9	27,2	27,2	27,3	27,4	28,0	27,6	27,0
55-64	11,2	12,1	12,6	13,3	14,1	15,0	15,5	16,7
CITIZENSHIP (by area)								
Italian	90,3	90,4	90,3	90,0	89,8	89,4	89,5	89,4
EU	3,0	3,0	3,0	3,0	2,9	3,0	2,9	2,8
Europe non EU	2,1	2,1	2,1	2,1	2,1	2,0	2,0	2,0
Africa	1,8	1,8	1,8	1,9	2,0	2,2	2,3	2,4
Asia	2,1	2,1	2,2	2,3	2,4	2,6	2,5	2,5
Other areas	0,7	0,7	0,7	0,8	0,8	0,8	0,8	0,9
EDUCATION LEVEL								
ISCED 0-2				31,2	32,8	32,1	30,5	29,6
ISCED 3				51,0	50,3	50,8	51,1	51,4
ISCED 4-5				5,6	5,3	5,7	6,0	6,4
ISCED 6				11,9	11,2	11,1	12,0	12,2
ISCED 7-8				0,4	0,4	0,4	0,4	0,4

Sources: Istat, Population register 2015-2022, Business register 2015-2021, Income register 2015-2022. Inps, Uniemens 2015-2022.

Notes: Individuals with at least an earning event with private non-agricolture enterprises, belonging to the resident population, living in households, excluding entrepreneurs and those who are in retirement. Data on education level are available from the population register only from 2018.

Table 2.2

YGE of er	nployees, by	year, gend	er and YGE	component	t. Years 201	5-2022 (Value	es at consta	nt 2015 pric	es)		
			YG	E (b)			YGE (b)				Γ
				Components					Components		
	Employees			Monthly	Duration	Women %			Monthly	Duration	

	Employees			wontiny	Duration	women %			wonuny	Duration			wonuniy	Duration
Years	(a)	YGE (b)	HGE (c)	intensity (d)	(e)	on total (a)	YGE (b)	HGE (c)	intensity (d)	(e)	YGE (b)	HGE (c)	intensity (d)	(e)
			TOTAL					WOMEN				М	EN	
2015	13.026	20.376	13,4	150	10,1	41,1	16.757	12,3	136	10,0	22.903	14,0	160	10,2
2016	13.279	20.721	13,4	150	10,3	41,2	17.099	12,4	135	10,2	23.264	14,0	159	10,4
2017	13.814	20.039	13,2	148	10,2	41,6	16.507	12,3	134	10,1	22.552	13,8	158	10,4
2018	14.144	19.865	13,1	148	10,3	41,7	16.389	12,2	134	10,1	22.348	13,6	158	10,4
2019	14.339	19.925	13,1	148	10,3	41,8	16.435	12,2	134	10,1	22.426	13,6	158	10,4
2020	14.107	20.369	13,2	149	10,3	41,2	16.907	12,4	135	10,1	22.799	13,7	159	10,5
2021	14.530	20.056	13,0	150	10,3	41,3	16.636	12,2	135	10,0	22.460	13,5	159	10,4
2022	15.059	18.657	12,2	149	10,3	41,6	15.423	11,4	135	10,0	20.958	12,6	159	10,4
						Rate	es of chang	e (f)						
2016		-0,3	0,5	-2,6	1,8		-0,6	0,9	-3,1	1,7	-0,1	0,3	-2,3	1,9
2017		-3,1	-1,4	-1,0	-0,8		-3,6	-1,1	-1,5	-1,1	-2,8	-1,6	-0,6	-0,6
2018		-1,0	-1,1	0,0	0,0		-0,8	-0,6	0,0	-0,1	-1,1	-1,3	0,1	0,2
2019		0,3	0,2	0,0	0,1		0,3	0,3	0,1	-0,1	0,3	0,1	0,0	0,2
2020		3,6	0,7	2,3	0,5		7,1	1,2	5,1	0,6	1,6	0,5	0,6	0,5
2021		-2,7	-1,2	-1,3	-0,3		-5,3	-1,1	-3,6	-0,7	-1,3	-1,4	0,1	-0,1
2022		-6,9	-6,8	0,0	-0,2		-7,2	-6,9	0,1	-0,3	-6,7	-6,6	0,0	-0,1

YGE (b) Components

Sources: Istat, Population register 2015-2022, Business register 2015-2021, Income register 2015-2022. Inps, Uniemens 2015-2022.

Version in the control of the contro

					Per ca	pita yearly gross	earnings Y	′GE (b)		
	Employ	ees %		2	022		Avera	ge rate of c	hange 2015-	·2022
	(a)			Components	6			Components	3
					Monthly				Monthly	,
Type of job (p)	2015	2022	YGE	HGE (c)	intensity (d)	Duration (e)	YGE	HGE (c)	intensity (d)	Duration (e
Onlystandard (g)	55,4	51,5	26.483	13,5	171	11,5	-0,7	-1,1	0,1	0,3
Only full-time short-term (h)	8,1	9,9	8.995	9,5	147	6,4	-1,3	-1,6	-0,3	0,6
Only part-time open- ended (i)	19,4	16,9	11.468	9,9	106	11,0	0,3	-1,2	0,5	1,0
Only part-time short-term (I)	5,1	7,6	3.954	8,4	83	5,6	-0,7	-1,5	-0,1	0,9
Mixed types, also standard (m)	7,7	7,9	17.025	9,8	159	10,9	-0,5	-1,4	0,2	0,7
Other mixed types (n)	4,2	6,2	8.666	8,5	109	9,3	-0,3	-1,4	0,6	0,5
Total	100	100	18.657	12,2	149	10,3	-1,3	-1,4	-0,1	0,2
Sources: Istat, Population register 2	2015-2022, E	usiness reg	ister 2015-202	1, Income regis	ster 2015-2022. In	ps, Uniemens 2015-2)22.			
Notes: (a) Individuals with at leas	t an earning	event with p	orivate non-agr	icolture enterpri	ses, belonging to	the resident population	i, living in hou	seholds, exclu	ding entrepreneur	's and those

type of job in the year, among which never standard jobs. (b) Employees are clasified on the basis of the type of jobs they experience during the year, indipendently of the number of

2.3. The employees with low earnings

Following an analysis tool currently used in the literature, two thresholds are introduced to identify employees with low earnings: one on YGE and the other on HGE (Table 2.4). The first threshold is fixed at 60 percent of median YGE, where the median is calculated on all employees belonging to the resident population. The second threshold identifies employees whose hourly wage is less than two-thirds of HGE median, the latter calculated only on standard labor relations excluding apprentices. At constant prices, the value of the two thresholds decreases from 2020, while at current prices they maintain a slightly increasing trend: in 2022 the threshold for YGE is at current prices slightly above 12 thousand euros, while HGE threshold is about 8.5 euros per hour²⁴.

By 2022, the share of employees were the YGE threshold²⁵ is just under 30 percent. Such proportion is quite constant over the years but shows a slight decline from 2019 onwards. The number of individuals below the threshold (which at the end of the period numbered 4.4 million, i.e. over 400,000 more than in 2015) follows the increase in the total number of employees (Table 2.5). People with non-standard contracts, as expected, are found more frequently in the low YGE area. It's the case of about a half of part-time open-ended employees whose incidence in the below-the-threshold group has fallen steadily since 2015. However, the most critical situations are among employees with fixed-term jobs, especially those with part-time contracts. For these categories, the duration and intensity of labour contract affect heavily the overall compensation.

Employees with low HGE are 1.4 million in 2022 (9.3 percent of the total), down from about 1.7 million recorded in 2018. Again, short-term jobs are undoubtedly the most vulnerable, especially if they are also parttime contracts.

Employees with standard jobs, although relatively less affected by low pay, significantly fuel the area of critical pay: in 2022 about 400,000 low-YGE and 300,000 low-HGE employees came from standard job. At the opposite end, about 3 million low-YGE workers held part-time jobs (Table 2.6). Young people, women and foreign citizens were the most frequent figures in non-standard jobs and also those most associated with low earnings. In particular, two out of three young people are below YGE threshold, and those with low HGE

²⁴ The two thresholds are calculated on the same reference population, excluding entrepreneurs and retired people.

²⁵ From now on we shall refer to low YGE or low HGE to intend employees below the corresponding threshold.

account for between one-quarter and one-third of the target subpopulation. Among the population with at least a bachelor's degree, the incidence of low-YGE appears to be about half of the total figure.

When family ties are taken into account, households with low-YGE employees verge on 4 million at the end of the observed period: they steadily account for about 35 percent of total households with employees and have slightly more members (3 individuals per household versus 2.6), a figure that is also quite stable over time (Table 2.7). The presence of low-YGE employees significantly affects household incomes: any other labour income of their own or other household members' is unlikely to provide adequate support to the family's economic wellbeing. In fact, if we consider the equivalent disposable incomes²⁶, the presence of employees with low YGE is associated with a higher probability of ending up in the poorest fifth, nearly twice as high as for the rest of households with employees, with a significant presence even in the second fifth.

Table 2.4

ds (a) adopted to ic of threshold (values	lentify the employ s at current anc con	yees with low earn Instant 2015 prices)	ings, by year
YG	E	HG	E
	Constant 2015		Constant 2015
Current prices	prices (b)	Current prices	prices (b)
11.564	11.564	8,0	8,0
11.738	11.750	8,0	8,1
11.477	11.330	8,1	8,0
11.497	11.217	8,2	8,0
11.621	11.261	8,3	8,0
11.964	11.616	8,3	8,0
11.975	11.405	8,3	7,9
12.056	10.557	8,5	7,4
	ds (a) adopted to ic of threshold (value) YG Current prices 11.564 11.738 11.477 11.497 11.621 11.964 11.975 12.056	ds (a) adopted to identify the employ of threshold (values at current anc correct of threshold (values at the target of target	ds (a) adopted to identify the employees with low earn of threshold (values at current anc constant 2015 prices) YGE HG Constant 2015 Current prices Current prices prices (b) Current prices 11.564 11.564 8,0 11.738 11.750 8,0 11.477 11.330 8,1 11.497 11.217 8,2 11.964 11.616 8,3 11.955 11.405 8,3 11.975 11.405 8,5

Sources: Istat, Population register 2015-2022, Business register 2015-2021, Income register 2015-2022. Inps, Uniemens 2015-2022.

Notes: (a) YGE threshold is 60% of the median value, excluding entrepreneurs and old-age pension holders. HGE threshold is equal to 66 percent of the median value calculated on standard jobs only, excluding apprentices, entrepreneurs and old-age pension holders. (b) Values at constant prices refer to 2015 and are calculated by applying changes in the general HICP index.

²⁶ For each household, the sum of the individual incomes has been divided by a family coefficient based on OECDmodified equivalence scale in order to take into account the different compositions of families.

Employees	s with low earr	nings, by ye	ar, type of thresho	old and type of jo	b. Years 2015-20	22 (Number in the	usands. % Inciden	ce)
Employees wi Year 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2021 2022				Inci	idence % by type o	fjob (a)		
Year	Employees below thresh. (b)	Total	Only standard (c)	Only full-time short-term (d)	Only part-time open-ended (e)	Only part-time short-term (f)	Mixed types, also standard (g)	Other mixed types (h)
				LOW YGE				
2015	3.947	30,3	8,1	65,5	56,2	93,9	22,9	72,8
2016	3.912	29,5	5,8	63,9	54,0	93,9	23,4	73,3
2017	4.170	30,2	5,2	60,4	49,7	92,5	22,1	71,4
2018	4.260	30,1	5,0	58,2	48,0	91,7	18,9	69,5
2019	4.315	30,1	4,8	63,7	47,7	93,8	17,5	69,7
2020	4.213	29,9	4,0	68,9	49,4	94,5	18,5	73,2
2021	4.317	29,7	4,3	66,8	47,6	94,2	17,2	70,7
2022	4.413	29,3	5,1	63,4	47,0	93,8	15,2	66,9
				LOW HGE				
2015	1.222	9,4	4,6	17,9	12,8	22,5	11,5	20,6
2016	1.273	9,6	4,5	17,8	13,0	23,2	12,3	21,3
2017	1.564	11,3	4,8	20,3	14,3	26,2	14,1	24,5
2018	1.688	11,9	4,8	20,7	14,8	27,0	14,1	25,3
2019	1.650	11,5	4,6	21,7	14,2	25,9	13,2	24,4
2020	1.539	10,9	4,5	20,8	14,3	25,1	13,0	23,2
2021	1.531	10,5	4,2	19,8	13,2	25,0	12,0	22,5
2022	1.400	9,3	3,7	18,0	11,4	21,9	10,0	19,8

Sources: Istat, Population register 2015-2022, Business register 2015-2021, Income register 2015-2022. Inps, Uniemens 2015-2022.

Nole: (a) Employees are clasified on the basis of the type of jobs they experience during the year, indipendently of the number of employers. (b) Individuals with at least an earning event with privale non-agricolture enterprises, belonging to the resident population, living in households, excluding enterpreneurs and those who are in refirement. (c) Employees with only standard jobs in the year. (d) Employees with only full-time short-term jobs in the year. (e) Employees with only part-time short-term jobs in the year. (g) Employees with more than one type of job in the year, standard jobs. (h) Employees with more than one type of job in the year, standard jobs.

Table 2.6

Employees with low earnings, by year, type of threshold and main demographic characters. Years 2015-2022 (Number in thousands. % Incidence)

	Employees			In	icidence %			
	below the							
Years	thresh. (a)	Total	15-24 yrs	25-34 yrs	Female	Foreign.	ISCED 0-2	ISCED 7-8
				L	.OW YGE			
2015	3.947	30,3	67,4	37,3	39,0	47,0		
2016	3.912	29,5	67,0	36,2	38,4	46,2		
2017	4.170	30,2	69,0	36,6	39,0	46,1		
2018	4.260	30,1	68,2	36,2	38,9	45,2	34,0	19,5
2019	4.315	30,1	68,1	35,8	39,1	44,6	34,2	18,1
2020	4.213	29,9	66,6	35,9	38,9	45,0	33,6	18,3
2021	4.317	29,7	68,5	34,8	39,0	43,4	33,4	18,3
2022	4.413	29,3	66,6	32,7	38,9	42,1	33,4	18,0
				L	_OW HGE			
2015	1.222	9,4	28,2	11,9	11,7	18,4		
2016	1.273	9,6	28,6	12,2	11,8	18,8		
2017	1.564	11,3	31,8	14,1	13,8	21,2		
2018	1.688	11,9	32,3	14,8	14,6	21,8	14,4	5,5
2019	1.650	11,5	31,6	14,1	14,2	20,4	13,9	4,9
2020	1.539	10,9	29,9	13,6	13,4	19,8	13,3	4,6
2021	1.531	10,5	28,5	12,8	13,1	18,3	12,8	4,4
2022	1.400	9,3	25,6	10,9	11,9	15,5	11,2	3,9

Sources: Istat, Population register 2015-2022, Business register 2015-2021, Income register 2015-2022. Inps, Uniemens 2015-2022.

Notes: (a) Individuals with at least an earning event with private non-agricolture enterprises, belonging to the resident population, living in households, excluding entrepreneurs and those who are in referement.

		House	holds											
	Number of Number components (d)		per of ents (d)	Quintile of disposable equivalent household income										
		Incidence		Incidence										
Years	N (.000)	% (c)	Avg.	% (e)	First	Second	Third	Fourth	Fift					
2015	3.523	35,1	3,1	37,8	207	116	89	53	3					
2016	3.491	34,2	3,1	37,0	207	118	88	53	3					
2017	3.687	35,2	3,1	38,2	205	119	88	53	3					
2018	3.766	35,2	3,1	38,3	205	119	87	54	3					
2019	3.815	35,3	3,1	38,5	204	120	86	54	3					
2020	3.748	34,9	3,0	37,7	199	122	87	56	3					
2021	3.827	35,0	3,1	38,1	198	121	87	57	3					
2022 (b)	3.939	35,0	3,0	38,2	188	122	88	58	4					

Households with at least one component with low YGE by quintile of disposable equivalent household income and year. Years 2015-2022

Notes: (a) The specialization rate is obtained by the ratio between the share of households with at least an employeee below YGE threshold and the share of househods in the quintile. A value over 100marks a over the average frequency. (b) For the year 2022 calculations are made based on 2021 personal incomes. (c) % of households with at least one component with low YGE. (d) Average number of components in the households with at least one employee with low YGE. (e) % of components in households with at least an employee with low YGE.

2.4. Employees with low earnings on a longitudinal perspective

In order to highlight some aspects of wage trends, the set of employees of private non-agricultural enterprises between 2015 and 2022 was projected onto the resident population of 2022, restricting the analysis to individuals who were between the ages of 25 and 60 in 2022 (and therefore 18-53 in 2015). This made it possible, on the one hand, to look backward at the events and employment continuity of this sub-population and, on the other hand, to examine the trajectories of entries and exits of the individuals from low-wage areas.

In 2022, those who had experience as employees between 2015 and 2022 totaled 16.5 million, or 58.5 percent of the entire 25-60 population (Table 2.8)²⁷. A large proportion of them (about 12.9 million) were still employed in 2022, while the remaining 3.6 million who were without a contract in that year, were nonetheless among employees in at least one of the previous years.

Among those who are in employment in 2022 there is a neat predominance of individuals with continuous traces of employment in all years of the observed period (about 7.7 million²⁸), while others – generally younger people - show continuous traces of employment only from 2019 onward. These two cohorts together account for 10 million individuals. A further set of about 1.4 million of individuals are new employees hired from 2020^{29} . The remaining lot consists of more than 1.2 million individuals with non-continuous job experience, albeit in many cases repeated over several years. The last lot is composed by individuals no more in employment in 2022: part of them since longer time (1.6 million had no signs since 2019), while an additional 2 million individuals gradually exited private employment between 2019 and 2022.

The cohort of persistent workers, in addition to being the largest, is also the cohort with the highest HGE and YGE: their real YGE growth was slow but appreciable until the abrupt slowdown brought about by the surge in inflation in 2022 (Table 2.9). Of course, this is a very heterogeneous cohort, as will be seen below. Employees with more recent continuous job signals, although starting from very modest wage levels, show a remarkable dynamics in YGE in the face of somewhat static HGE: these are individuals whose conditions have improved through a greater intensity of labor relations and who have gone through the pandemic period

²⁷ This subpopulation of employees accounts for about two-thirds of the male population and just over half of the female population, more than 70 percent of the under-35s and just over 50 percent of the over-50s (the latter likely to be more absorbed in public employment). Looking only at those employed in 2022, the incidence of younger people drops by about 20 percentage points, confirming the greater intermittency of employment relationships during the observed period. 28 In the following, we will refer to these employees with pay signals in all years of the period by referring to them as "persistent."

²⁹ "New" in this case stands for "with no employment relationship from 2015 to 2019."

practically unscathed, achieving greater stability precisely in those years. The rest of the cohorts show more irregular wage dynamics, as they are essentially characterized by modest earnings, especially in YGE.

In contrast, about 10 million employees ended up, even episodically, below one of the two thresholds. This is more than one-third of the entire 2022 population and more than 60 percent of the subpopulation of employees (Table 2.10). Individual experiences of low HGE are usually associated with low YGE, although the reverse is valid more rarely. Of the 9.8 million individuals with low YGE events (including 6.7 million below the threshold for more than two years), only 3.7 million also experienced low HGE. For the others, the annual wage shortfalls enlighten a problem of employment intensity and contract breaks. Symmetrically, however, among the 4 million employees who experienced low HGE during the period, fewer than 10 percent exceeded the low YGE threshold each year: in short, then, when hourly wages are very low, it is unlikely that annual wages are not also low.

Employees with persistent signals between 2015 and 2022 are less frequently in the low-pay areas, although nearly a third of them spent at least one year in the low YGE class. Far greater is the incidence of low-pay episodes in the other cohorts of employees: more than 80 percent of employees have experienced periods of low annual pay, even among those no longer employed in 2022, with peaks of more than 90 percent among employees with the most discontinuous work trajectories. A large portion of them experienced low contract duration and extremely limited work intensity. Furthermore, if only the threshold on HGE is considered, trends by cohort reveal a further sign of weakness among employees with more discontinuous labour contracts.

In the cohorts characterized by persistent labour relations, on the other hand, the annual incidence of the employees with low earnings halved over the period. This is because a substantial group of workers (about 1.8 million) raised permanently their YGE as of 2019, and just under 1.2 million individuals raised their HGE above the threshold (Table 2.11). At the opposite end of the spectrum, the portion of employees who have never left permanently their wage insecurity is certainly very large. A group of 4.1 million individuals, in fact, has never risen above the YGE threshold: of these almost 900,000 come from the persistent cohorts and more than three million from those who in 2022 were without a contract (even for a long time), denoting clear signs of pay weakness even when they were previously active. Employees who did not succeed in the observed period to get out of low HGE are proportionately a smaller group (but still 900,000): for them it seems that improving HGE over the threshold is relatively easier than resolving with the YGE threshold. Finally, if we consider all employees who are unable to permanently break out of poor pay levels or those who see their situation worsening, we observe that even in the most persistent cohorts of workers, there is less than 40 percent of individuals who manage to cross the threshold of low pay, whether hourly or annual.

The cohort of the most persistent employees is definitely the largest and most heterogeneous in both composition and evolution of their earnings. It is overwhelmingly composed of adults, males, with fewer foreigners (and also fewer university graduates, due to a predictably age-related effect). On the opposite side, if we look at the portion of those who experienced periods of low pay between 2015 and 2022, the share of women, young people, and foreigners is markedly higher, and the share of university graduates appears conspicuously lower (Table 2.12).

After all, women, young people and foreigners are generally the most associated with low earnings, which regarded nearly 70 percent of women and more than 80 percent of young people and foreigners with employment signals during the period. The cohorts of employees without a contract in 2022, especially in the segments with low earnings, result to be characterized by a high female composition signaling a specific tendency to undergo even long-term contract interruptions. Employees with persistent relationships as of 2019 are on average younger, as well as the cohort with more recent access to employment positions; the latter in particular also show a significant presence of foreigners and university graduates. Finally, the cohorts of employees with intermittent jobs also have a strong youth component.

Employees by cohot of persistence and	year in whiche	they were er	nployed. Yea	rs 2015-2022	(thousands)				
Cohorts (a)	Employees (i)	2015	2016	2017	2018	2019	2020	2021	2022
Employed in 2022	12.885	8.859	10.447	10.584	10.807	10.813	11.917	12.116	12.885
Persistent since 2015 (b)	7.715	7.715	7.715	7.715	7.715	7.715	7.715	7.715	7.715
Other persistent since 2019 (c)	2.558	458	1.717	1.849	2.067	2.558	2.558	2.558	2.558
Entry in 2020 (d)	1.367						786	838	1.367
Discontinuous with some seniority (e)	932	602	837	851	832	434	728	817	932
Other discontinuous (f)	314	84	178	169	193	106	130	188	314
Employees only before 2022	3.644	2.056	2.838	2.851	2.876	1.636	1.782	1.590	
Only before 2019 (g)	1.612	1.080	1.287	1.257	1.222				
Other exited between 2019 and 2022 (h)	2.032	977	1.551	1.595	1.654	1.636	1.782	1.590	
Total	16.530	10.916	13.285	13.435	13.682	12.449	13.699	13.706	12.885

Sources: Islat, Population register 2015-2022, Business register 2015-2021, Income register 2015-2022. Inps, Uniemens 2015-2022. Inps, Uniemens 2015-2022. Inps, Uniemens 2015-2022, Iving in households, Notes: (a) Individuals with at least an earning event with private non-agricollure enterprises between 2015 and 2022, belonging to the resident population in 2022, Iving in households, excluding entrepreneurs and those who are in retirement and aged 25-60. Here they are classified on the basis of their presence among employees; (b) Employees in every year of the period; (c) Others employees in every year from 2019; (d) Other employees for the first time from 2020 on; (e) Employees present discontinuous; (i) Number of employees with earnings in at

Table 2.9

Gross earnings, by cohort and year. Yea	ars 2015-2022	(values at co	onstant 2015 p	orices)				
Cohorts (a)	2015	2016	2017	2018	2019	2020	2021	2022
				YGE				
Employed in 2022	20.974	21.413	21.083	21.216	21.505	21.926	21.787	19.777
Persistent since 2015 (b)	22.398	23.749	24.071	24.516	25.022	25.465	25.684	23.972
Other persistent since 2019 (c)	10.636	8.828	10.504	12.541	13.721	15.739	16.884	16.349
Entry in 2020 (d)						8.770	11.031	11.079
Discontinuous with some seniority (e)	12.413	12.402	11.290	10.086	9.191	7.975	10.627	11.146
Other discontinuous (f)	8.032	5.335	3.317	3.455	3.802	4.661	7.025	8.113
Employees only before 2022	13.484	13.641	12.627	11.954	11.409	10.841	7.713	
Only before 2019 (g)	12.070	11.781	9.877	6.662				
Other exited between 2019 and 2022 (h)	15.047	15.287	14.489	13.964	11.409	10.841	7.713	
Total	19.563	20.042	19.661	19.804	20.178	20.833	20.916	19.777
				HGE				
Employed in 2022	13,1	13,2	13,1	13,0	13,1	13,3	13,2	12,3
Persistent since 2015 (b)	13,3	13,4	13,5	13,6	13,8	14,0	14,0	13,3
Other persistent since 2019 (c)	11,0	10,6	10,3	10,3	10,5	10,9	11,0	10,5
Entry in 2020 (d)						10,9	11,0	10,3
Discontinuous with some seniority (e)	11,1	11,0	10,8	10,5	10,6	10,6	10,7	10,0
Other discontinuous (f)	11,3	10,8	9,5	9,4	9,5	9,6	10,6	9,7
Employees only before 2022	11,9	11,9	11,7	11,5	11,5	11,7	11,1	
Only before 2019 (g)	11,8	11,8	11,6	11,1				
Other exited between 2019 and 2022 (h)	11,9	11,9	11,7	11,5	11,5	11,7	11,1	
Total	12 9	13.0	12 9	12.8	13.0	13.2	13.1	12.3
1 0 001	12,0	10,0	12,0	12,0	10,0	10,2	10,1	12,0

Sources: Istat, Population register 2015-2022, Business register 2015-2021, Income register 2015-2022. Inps, Uniemens 2015-2022.

Notes: (a) Individuals with at least an earning event with private non-agricolture enterprises between 2015 and 2022, belonging to the resident population in 2022, living in households, excluding entrepreneurs and those who are in retirement and aged 25-60. Here they are classified on the basis of theri presence among employees; (b) Employees in every year of the period; (c) Others employees in every year from 2019; (d) Other employees for the first time from 2020 on; (e) Employees present discontinuously in the period but at least for four years. (f) Other discontinuous employees (g) Employees only until 2018, eventually discontinuously; (h) Other employees in 2019-2021, eventually discontinuous; (i) Number of employees with earnings in at least one month between 2015-2022.

Employees with low earnings, by	cohort and t	ype oft hre	shold. Ye	ars 2015-202	22 (Numbers	in thousand	s)		
				ofw	hom: with low	earnings	,		
		YGE or H	GE	YGE		HGE		YGE and H	IGE
	Employees		Incid.				Incid.		Incid.
Cohorts (a)	(i)	N	%	N	Incid.%	Ν	%	N	%
Employed in 2022	12.885	6.935	53.8	6.656	51.7	2.953	22.9	2.674	20.7
Persistent since 2015 (b)	7.715	2.501	32.4	2.283	29.6	1.049	13.6	830	10.8
Other persistent since 2019 (c)	2.558	2.160	84,4	2.121	82,9	998	39,0	959	37,5
Entry in 2020 (d)	1.367	1.086	79,5	1.069	78,2	327	24,0	310	22,7
Discontinuous with some seniority	932	882	94,6	878	94,2	437	46,9	433	46,5
Other discontinuous (f)	314	306	97,5	306	97,3	141	45,0	141	44,8
Employees only before 2022	3.644	3.124	85.7	3.099	85.0	1.099	30.2	1.074	29.5
Only before 2019 (g)	1.612	1.367	84,8	1.356	84,1	409	25,3	397	24,6
Other exited between 2019 and 2	2.032	1.756	86,4	1.743	85,8	690	34,0	677	33,3
Total	16.530	10.059	60,9	9.755	59,0	4.052	24,5	3.747	22,7

Notes: (a) Individuals with at least an earning event with private non-agricolture enterprises between 2015 and 2022, belonging to the resident population in 2022, living in households, excluding entrepreneurs and those who are in retirement and aged 25-60. Here they are classified on the basis of their presence among employees; (b) Employees in every year of the period; (c) Others employees in every year form 2019; (d) Other employees (g) Employees only until 2018, eventually discontinuously; (h) Other employees in 2019-2021, eventually discontinuous; (i) Number of employees with earnings in at least one month between 2015-2022.

Table 2.11

Employees with low earnings, by	cohort and ty	pe of thres	old. Years 2	015-2022 (th	ousands)					
			YGE					HGE		
			When below	/ the threshold						
	Employees		No more		Other	Employees		No more		Other
Cohorts (a)	(i)	Always	since 2019	From 2019	intermittents	(i)	Always	since 2019	From 2019	intermittents
Employed in 2022	6.656	2.088	1.663	1.106	1.799	2.953	423	968	822	739
Persistent since 2015 (b)	2.283	389	878	336	681	1.049	90	469	177	312
Other persistent since 2019 (c)	2.121	472	670	293	685	998	97	300	305	296
Entry in 2020 (d)	1.069	751		318		327	195		133	
Discontinuous with some seniority (878	277	83	121	397	437	22	153	142	120
Other discontinuous (f)	306	200	31	39	36	141	19	46	66	11
Employees only before 2022	3.099	2.058	118	253	670	1.099	470	201	155	274
Only before 2019 (g)	1.356	1.033			323	409	255			153
Other exited between 2019 and 202	1.743	1.025	118	253	347	690	214	201	155	121
Total	9.755	4.146	1.781	1.359	2.468	4.052	893	1.169	977	1.013

Sources: Istat, Population register 2015-2022, Business register 2015-2021, Income register 2015-2022. Inps, Uniemens 2015-2022. Inps, Uniemens 2015-2022. Inps, Uniemens 2015-2022. Inps, Uniemens 2015-2022, Barbard and Sources: Istat, Population register 2015-2021, Income register 2015-2022, Inps, Uniemens 2015-2022. Inps, Uniemens 2015-2022, Uniemens, Inps, Uniemens 2015-2022, Inps, Uniemens 2015-2022, Inps, Uniemens 2015-2022, Inps, Uniemens 2015-2022, Inps, Uniemens, Inps,

Table 2.12

			Employees					of	whom: at l	east one ye	ar with lov	v YGE or HG	E		
		Composizione %						Compos	ition %		Incidence % on the respective total				
		25-34			ISCED		25-34			ISCED					ISCED
Cohorts (a)	Total (i)	yrs.	Female	Foreign.	6-7-8	Total	yrs.	Female	Foreign.	6-7-8	Total	25-34 yrs.	Female	Foreign.	6-7-8
Employed in 2022	12.885	26,1	41,9	10,8	14,2	6.935	38.5	48,2	15,5	11,9	53,8	79,4	61,8	77,1	45,1
Persistent since 2015 (b)	7.715	13,5	39,5	6,1	12,8	2.501	26,3	49,0	11,1	8,6	32,4	63,2	40,2	59,3	21,8
Other persistent since 2019 (c)	2.558	47,1	43,1	15,4	15,9	2.160	48,4	45,3	15,8	13,3	84,4	86,9	88,6	86,8	70,2
Entry in 2020 (d)	1.367	46,4	48,6	25,7	20,5	1.086	45,2	52,4	25,9	17,2	79,5	77,4	85,7	79,9	66,7
Discontinuous with some seniority	932	36,3	46,2	13,8	11,0	882	37,7	47,2	14,0	10,4	94,6	98,2	96,6	96,3	89,9
Other discontinuous (f)	314	45,3	49,0	16,0	14,5	306	45,9	49,5	16,1	14,2	97,5	98,8	98,6	98,0	95,2
Employees only before 2022	3.644	29,4	53,8	12,4	15,9	3.124	32,3	56,2	13,4	15,2	85,7	94,1	89,4	92,6	82,2
Only before 2019 (g)	1.612	25,2	55,0	10,8	16,9	1.367	27,7	57,5	11,7	16,0	84,8	93,3	88,7	91,8	80,6
Other exited between 2019 and 2	2.032	32,7	52,9	13,6	15,0	1.756	35,9	55,2	14,7	14,6	86,4	94,7	90,0	93,1	83,6
Total	16.530	26,8	44,5	11,2	14,5	10.059	36.6	50,6	14.8	12,9	60,9	83,0	69,2	80,9	54,1

Sources: set, Population register 2/15-2022, business register 2015-2022, income register 2/015-2022, bins, the register 2/015-2022, business register 2/015

2.4. Employees who escaped the low-wage trap

It is interesting to observe the trajectories of the employees who succeeded to exit from low-earnings or, conversely, who never managed to fully exit the low-earnings trap: in order to do that, we focus on the largest cohort of 7 million persistent employees, with signs of dependent employment in every year of the period 2015-2022.

A significant portion of these workers (about 878 thousands) experienced low YGE in the first part of the period but succeeded to emancipate permanently in the second time span. It is interesting to shed some light on the main reasons why this happened, whether it was because of an increase in HGE or in working time, if there was any improvement in job quality, what happened during the pandemic and whether gross earnings resisted or not to inflationary pressures.

For these individuals, the development of YGE was intense until 2021 but slowed in 2022 when inflation pressures hit severely (Table 2.13). Ultimately, the exit from low YGE was supported not so much by the dynamics of HGE (which increased appreciably in real terms up to 2021) but rather by the increase in working time. In particular, up to 2019 the growth in YGE stemmed mostly from the increase in the duration of contracts due to the transitions to open-ended jobs, but also from the growth in monthly intensity due to transitions to full-time jobs. After 2020, however, margins for intensity growth saturated and the dynamics of HGE were not sufficient to support YGE, especially in 2022.

The employees who gradually left behind a low-HGE status (about 470 thousands) showed similar growth in YGE (until 2020) but at significantly lower absolute levels. Their HGE, although it rose appreciably over the period, was never permanently above the average of 10 euros per hour. Until 2017, moreover, its contribution to the change in YGE was lower than the contribution of the duration of contracts. The gradual weakening of these components led to a stagnation of wages that worsened in 2022 due to the inflation boost. The recovery due to the increase in HGE only partially offset the low YGE, which remained dependent on the intensity and duration of jobs.

Such dynamics are linked to important changes in the job quality: a significant proportion of employees who passed over the low-YGE line have gradually gained access to standard jobs, the incidence of which raised in the period from just over a quarter to almost two-thirds (Table 2.14). At the same time, short-term jobs (be them full-time or part-time) decreased whilst open-ended part-time decreased much less, confirming the presence of more stable relationships. The exit from low-HGE status came along with transitions to standard jobs and at the expense of fixed-term contracts, although to a lesser extent. More often improvements were achieved within the pre-existing contract.

As for the flows characterized by changes in the type of labour contract between 2015 and 2019, the exit from the low YGE observed for almost half of the workers went along with an improvement in the job quality because of the transit to standard or open-ended jobs (Table 2.15). The growth in YGE in this case exceeds double digits due to the decisive contribution of the intensity and duration of employment, especially for those who transited to full-time contracts. Part of the employees with standard jobs in 2015, gained the pay increase through the consolidation of duration and, to a lesser extent, through the increase in HGE. For those individuals (mostly women) who maintained open-ended part-time jobs during this period, YGE increased because of the increase in contractual workable hours which also resulted in an intensification of monthly working commitments. Finally, there is a share of employees (more than 10 percent) who came out of low pay even with worsening contractual conditions, and this was due to increases in contract length or work intensity although the quite modest, if not negative, contribution of HGE.

In the last three-year period, the improvements in the quality of labour contracts were less intense (Table 2.16). About 60 percent of employees retained the contractual condition of 2019, albeit with stagnant YGE in real terms. However, while full-time employees showed a relative growth in HGE, part-time workers could not keep the pace of inflation: despite the increase in monthly intensity, there was a decrease in YGE. For who gained access to standard jobs after 2019, coming largely from part-time contracts, the large increase in YGE

was determined by monthly intensity and resisted the inflationary blaze of 2022, whilst the contribution of HGE was insignificant

The scenario partly changes if we consider the exits from low HGE: here the transition is not so tied to the improvement in job quality that in many cases even worsened (Table 2.17). The YGE of these individuals (shortly below 16 thousand euros in 2019) saw a double-digit growth rate. It was higher for those whose contractual conditions improved over the period and for those who remained with full-time and fixed-term jobs. In addition to the generalized increase in HGE (similar for all categories regardless of contractual changes) - those who improved the quality of their jobs experienced a faster growth in the monthly intensity and those whose job quality remained unchanged saw an increase in the job duration

In the last four-year period 2019-2022, the exits from low HGE were associated with a stagnation in YGE (Table 2.18). Even so, only for the employees who could improve the quality of their jobs through access to open-ended jobs (standard or part-time) this growth is the result of increased monthly intensity and contract length. For other transitions to full-time, the increase is given by workable hours. Overall, YGE and HGE in 2022 are still quite modest, placing just above 16 thousand euros and on 9.6 euros, respectively.

Table 2.13

			YGE			% chai	nge over the	previous yea	ar
			YG	E components			YG	E components	
Years	Employees	YGE	HGE	Monthly intensity	Duration	YGE	HGE	Monthly intensity	Duration
					YGE				
2015	878	8.818	9,8	123	7,4				
2016	878	13.629	10,0	136	10,0	54,6	2,6	11,0	35,7
2017	878	15.317	10,1	143	10,6	12,4	0,8	5,0	6,2
2018	878	17.212	10,3	151	11,1	12,4	1,7	5,3	5,0
2019	878	19.604	10,6	157	11,8	13,9	3,1	4,3	6,0
2020	878	20.605	10,9	160	11,9	5,1	2,8	1,7	0,6
2021	878	21.007	11,0	161	11,9	2,0	1,2	0,4	0,4
2022	878	20.028	10,5	161	11,9	-4,7	-4,3	0,1	-0,4
					HGE				
2015	469	9.730	7,9	143	8,6				
2016	469	11.766	8,3	142	9,9	20,9	4,9	-0,4	15,7
2017	469	13.126	8,6	145	10,5	11,6	3,9	1,8	5,5
2018	469	14.696	9,1	149	10,8	12,0	4,9	3,3	3,2
2019	469	16.040	9,8	148	11,1	9,1	7,6	-1,0	2,5
2020	469	17.233	10,1	155	11,0	7,4	3,3	4,5	-0,5
2021	469	17.275	10,2	151	11,3	0,2	0,8	-2,5	1,9
2022	469	16.349	9,7	152	11,1	-5,4	-4.6	0,5	-1,4

Sources: Istat, Population register 2015-2022, Business register 2015-2021, Income register 2015-2022. Inps, Uniemens 2015-2022. Note: (a) Only persistent employees

Table 2.14

Employees (a) who definitively escaped from the trap of low earnings since 2019, by year, type of threshold and type of job. Years 2015, 2019 e 2022 (Numbers in thousands; % compositions)

Type of job	2015	2019	2022	2015	2019	2022	2015	2019	2022	2015	2019	2022
			Y	ЭE					H	GE		
Standard	230	426	563	26.3	48.5	64 2	142	190	241	30.3	40.5	51.5
Full time short term	157	62	26	17.0	7 1	2.0	73	130	271	15.5	10.0	7 1
	137	02	20	11,9	7,1	2,3	13	41		15,5	10,0	1,1
Part-time open-ended	220	186	178	25,0	21,1	20,3	100	101	103	21,3	21,4	22,0
Part-time short-term	80	7	2	9,1	0,8	0,2	44	19	12	9,3	4,1	2,7
Mixed types, also standard	100	151	92	11,4	17,2	10,5	61	68	51	13,0	14,5	11,0
Other mixed types	91	46	17	10,4	5,2	2,0	49	44	27	10,5	9,4	5,7
Total	878	878	878	100	100	100	469	469	469	100	100	100
Full-time	387	488	589	44,1	55,6	67,1	215	237	275	45,8	50,5	58,6
Part-time	299	193	180	34,1	22,0	20,5	144	120	116	30,6	25,6	24,7
Mixed types	191	197	109	21,8	22,4	12,4	110	112	78	23,6	23,9	16,7
Sources: Istat. Population register 2015-2	2022. Bu:	siness re	aister 20	15-2021	Incom	e reaister	2015-20	22. Inps	s. Uniem	nens 201	5-2022.	
Note: (a) Only persistent employees			•			J					1	

Employees (a) who definitively escaped from the trap of low YGE since 2019, by type of change in job type and components of YGE. Years 2015-2019. (Numbers in

			Inciden	ce %		,	/GE		HGE	Month	ly intensity	D	uration
	1			00 /0		-		-			ing interiory	<u> </u>	
		25-34		ISCED			Avg.growth rate 2015-		Avg.growth rate 2015-		Avg.growth rate 2015-		Avg.growth rate 2015-
otal	Dist %	yrs.	Females	6-7-8	Foreign.	2019	2019	2019	2019	2019	2019	2019	2019
158	18,0	32,6	26,6	16,7	7,5	23.854	8,7	11,7	2,6	172	1,0	11,9	4,9
22	2,5	28,0	21,8	6,9	10,3	18.825	16,0	10,8	2,1	164	3,2	10,6	10,1
111	12,6	17,3	71,6	10,8	7,0	14.591	7,5	10,4	1,4	117	4,7	12,0	1,2
2	0,2	30,1	64,2	10,5	8,4	14.373	19,0	9,9	0,7	126	7,2	11,5	10,3
268	30,5	41,0	33,2	12,0	11,4	21.572	16,6	10,5	2,7	172	6,6	11,9	6,5
41	4,6	36,5	43,2	9,5	13,4	18.413	20,5	9,9	1,5	160	14,3	11,6	3,8
119	13,5	37,3	48,1	10,1	10,8	17.425	17,1	10,0	1,7	147	6,6	11,8	8,0
72	8,3	25,9	30,1	8,5	10,4	18.583	7,0	10,3	-0,2	156	-0,4	11,5	7,7
16	1,9	31,2	52,7	9,4	9,2	15.302	10,8	10,0	1,4	130	1,0	11,7	8,2
24	2,7	26,3	46,8	8,1	11,7	16.369	12,2	9,9	0,7	144	7,2	11,5	3,9
46	5,3	34,8	39,9	8,2	12,9	17.668	15,3	10,0	1,6	153	5,7	11,6	7,4
878	100	33,3	39,9	11,6	10,1	19.604	13,2	10,5	1,9	157	4,9	11,8	5,8
	otal 158 22 1111 2 268 41 119 72 16 24 46 878	otal Dist % 158 180, 22 2,5 111 12,6 2 0,2 111 22,6 2 0,2 111 12,6 12 3,5 14 4,6 119 13,5 16 1,9 24 2,7 46 5,3 878 100	25-34 25-34 Dist yrs. 158 180. 158 180. 22 2,5 20,2 30,1 20,2 30,1 20,2 30,1 20,2 30,5 41 4,6 30,5 37,3 72 8,3 25,9 16 1,9 31,2 24 2,7 26,3 46 5,3 3,4,8 878 100 33,3	25-34 yrs Females 0dal Dist % 158 18,0 32,6 26,6 22 2,5 28,0 21,8 111 12,6 17,3 71,6 2 0,2 30,1 64,2 2 0,2 30,1 64,2 2 10,2 30,1 64,2 2 2,5 8,3 25,4 2 0,2 30,1 64,2 2 - - - 2 0,2 30,1 64,2	25-34 25-34 ISCED 6-7-8 158 18,0 32,6 26,6 16,7 158 18,0 32,6 26,6 16,7 12 2,5 28,0 21,8 6,9 111 12,6 17,3 71,6 10,8 2 0,2 30,1 64,2 10,5 2 0,2 30,1 64,2 10,5 2 14 4,6 36,5 43,2 9,5 119 13,5 37,3 48,1 10,1 72 8,3 25,9 30,1 8,5 16 1,9 31,2 52,7 9,4 24 2.7 26,3 34,8 39,9 8,2 878 100 33,3 33,9 11,6	25-34 ISCED 6-7-8 Foreign. 158 18,0 32,6 26,6 16,7 7,5 158 18,0 32,6 26,6 16,7 7,5 158 18,0 32,6 26,6 16,7 7,5 158 18,0 21,8 6,9 10,3 111 12,6 17,3 71,6 10,8 7,0 2 0,2 30,1 64,2 10,5 8,4	25-34 ISCED Foreign. 2019 158 18.0 32.6 26.6 16.7 7.5 23.854 128 18.0 32.6 26.6 16.7 7.5 23.854 122 2.5 28.0 21.8 6.9 10.3 18.825 111 12.6 17.3 71.6 10.8 7.0 14.591 2 0.2 30.1 64.2 10.5 8.4 14.373 2 0.2 30.1 64.2 10.5 8.4 14.373 2 0.2 30.1 64.2 10.5 8.4 14.373 2 0.2 30.1 64.2 10.5 8.4 14.373 2 0.2 30.3 48.1 10.1 10.8 17.425 41 4.6 36.5 43.2 9.5 13.4 18.813 119 13.5 37.3 48.1 10.1 10.8 17.425 72 8.3	25-34 ISCED yrs. ISCED 6-7-8 Foreign. Avg.growth rate 2015- 2019 Avg.growth rate 2015- 2019 158 18.0 32.6 26.6 16.7 7.5 23.854 8.7 22 2.5 28.0 21.8 6.9 10.3 18.825 16.0 111 12.6 17.3 71.6 10.8 7.0 14.591 7.5 2 0.2 30.1 64.2 10.5 8.4 14.373 19.0 2	Jost 25-34 yrs. ISCED Females ISCED 6-7-8 Foreign. Aug.growth rate 2015- 2019 Junctify 2019 158 18.0 32,6 26,6 16,7 7,5 23.854 8,7 11,7 158 18.0 32,6 26,6 16,7 7,5 23.854 8,7 11,7 12 2,5 28,0 21,8 6,9 10,3 18.825 16,0 10,8 111 12,6 17,3 71,6 10,8 7,0 14.591 7,5 10,4 2 0,2 30,1 64,2 10,5 8,4 14.373 19,0 9,9 2 0,2 30,1 64,2 10,5 8,4 14.373 19,0 9,9 41 4,6 36,5 43,2 9,5 13,4 18.413 20,5 9,9 119 13,5 37,3 48,1 10,1 10,8 17,425 17,1 10,0 72 8,3 25,9 30,1	$ \begin{array}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$	$ \begin{array}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$	Jest Z5-34 ISCED yrs. Fernales ISCED 6-7-8 Foreign. Avg.growth rate 2015- 2019 Avg.growth rate 2015-	25-34 25-34 ISCED Foreign. Avg.growth rate 2015- Avg.growth rate 2

Note: (a) Only persistent employees

Table 2.16

Employees (a) who definitively escaped from the trap of low YGE since 2019, by type of change in job type and components of YGE. Years 2019-2022. (Numbers in thousands, incidence%, Annual average rates of growth. Values at constant 2015 prices)

				Incider	nce %		YG	E	Н	GE	Monthly	/ intensity	Dur	ation
								Avg.		Avg.		Avg.		Avg.
								growth		growth		growth		growth
Changes in job type between			25-34		ISCED			rate		rate		rate		rate
2019 and 2022	Total	Dist. %	yrs.	Females	6-7-8	Foreign.	2022	2019-	2022	2019-	2022	2019-	2022	2019-
UNCHANGED														
Standard	376	42,8	37,4	30,2	14,3	9,7	22.880	0,3	11,2	0,4	172	-0,1	11,9	0,0
Full-time fixed-term	11	1,3	21,8	22,7	5,6	9,1	19.797	1,3	11,6	0,0	163	0,4	10,5	0,9
Part-time open-ended	140	16,0	18,9	73,6	11,0	6,9	14.311	-0,8	9,8	-1,6	122	0,8	12,0	0,0
Part-time fixed-term	0	0,0	16,1	59,7	11,3	6,2	14.182	-0,8	9,7	-2,0	129	1,2	11,4	0,0
IMPROVED														
Passed to Standard	188	21,4	34,4	32,2	9,0	12,2	20.834	3,7	10,2	0,0	172	2,7	11,9	0,9
Others passed to Full-time	18	2,0	34,3	49,9	10,2	10,8	17.684	5,5	9,7	-1,3	155	7,2	11,7	-0,3
Others passed to open-ended	41	4,6	30,0	52,1	8,8	10,3	16.715	1,5	9,5	-1,1	148	1,7	11,8	1,0
WORSENED														
Exited from Standard	50	5,7	41,7	34,5	9,4	12,3	18.363	-3,9	9,9	-0,8	160	-2,5	11,6	-0,7
Other exited from Full-time	10	1,1	34,3	63,0	11,5	7,8	15.238	-4,8	9,8	-1,2	131	-4,0	11,9	0,4
Others exited from open-ender	13	1,5	31,0	45,1	7,3	12,3	16.074	-0,4	9,4	-1,6	149	2,0	11,5	-0,8
OTHER FLOWS	31	3,6	36,9	35,6	7,5	13,4	18.177	-0,4	9,6	-0,8	162	0,4	11,7	0,0
TOTAL	878	100	33,3	39,9	11,6	10,1	20.028	0,7	10,5	-0,3	161	0,8	11,9	0,2
Sources: Istat, Population register 2	015-2022	2, Business r	egister 2015-	2021, Income	register 2015	5-2022. Inps, l	Jniemens 2015	-2022.						
Note: (a) Unly persistent employee	IS													

Table 2.17

Employees (a) who definitively escaped from the trap of low HGE since 2019, by type of change in job type and components of YGE. Years 2015-2019. (Numbers in thousands, incidence%, Annual average rates of growth. Values at constant 2015 prices)

				Incider	nce %			YGE		HGE	Mont	nly intensity	D	uration
Changes in job type between 2015 and 2019	Total	Dist. %	25-34 yrs.	Females	ISCED 6-7-8	Foreign.	2019	Avg.growth rate 2015- 2019	2019	Avg.growth rate 2015- 2019	2019	Avg.growth rate 2015- 2019	2019	Avg.growth rate 2015- 2019
UNCHANGED							1							
Standard	94	20,1	48,2	25,8	6,5	12,5	19.718	7,0	9,7	5,6	173	-0,1	11,8	1,5
Full-time fixed-term	17	3,6	34,2	27,5	6,3	13,4	14.070	14,6	10,7	6,2	154	2,1	8,6	5,7
Part-time open-ended	56	12,0	21,7	69,9	7,1	13,0	11.240	4,7	9,3	5,3	102	-1,5	11,8	1,0
Part-time fixed-term	5	1,1	36,9	64,8	8,7	9,6	6.639	8,0	9,4	4,1	91	-0,6	7,8	4,5
IMPROVED														
Passed to Standard	96	20,4	47,5	30,4	7,5	15,9	20.055	16,5	9,9	5,7	172	4,4	11,8	5,7
Others passed to Full-time	19	4,0	45,3	41,1	7,0	17,6	15.436	18,5	9,7	5,3	156	10,1	10,2	2,2
Others passed to open-ended	56	11,9	41,5	48,8	7,7	13,9	14.644	18,7	9,7	5,2	132	4,0	11,5	8,5
WORSENED														
Exited from Standard	48	10,1	43,4	32,9	5,9	14,1	14.885	4,2	9,8	5,0	144	-3,4	10,6	2,7
Other exited from Full-time	17	3,7	41,4	50,2	6,8	13,0	10.712	7,1	9,5	4,7	113	-4,5	10,0	7,1
Others exited from open-ended	21	4,6	38,2	49,1	6,0	15,5	10.983	5,0	9,6	4,5	119	0,7	9,6	-0,2
OTHER FLOWS	39	8,4	42,1	45,4	6,5	15,2	13.157	12,1	9,7	5,1	133	1,5	10,2	5,2
TOTAL	469	100	41,6	40,2	6,9	14,2	15.872	10,9	9,7	5,3	146	1,3	11,1	3,9
Sources: Istat, Population register 2015	-2022, Bu	siness regist	ter 2015-2021	1, Income reg	ister 2015-20	22. Inps, Unie	mens 2015	-2022.						

Note: (a) Only persistent employees

					00 /0			IGL		IIGL	WOTU	ly interisity	0	ulaioll
Changes in job type between	[otal	Dict %	25-34	Fomalos	ISCED	Foroign	2022	Avg.growth rate 2019-	2022	Avg.growth rate 2019- 2022	2022	Avg.growth rate 2019-	2022	Avg.growt rate 2019
	IUIAI	DISL /0	yıs.	T entaies	0-7-0	r oreign.	2022	2022	2022	2022	2022	2022	2022	202
Standard	160	34.2	47.2	27.2	7.2	13.8	19.901	-0.3	9.9	0.4	172	-0.2	11.7	-0.5
Full-time fixed-term	15	3,2	30,9	29,9	5,4	13.5	13.852	1.6	10,9	-0,2	153	0.6	8,3	1,2
Part-time open-ended	74	15,9	22,6	71,3	7,4	12,2	10.729	-1,8	8,9	-1,6	105	0,8	11,4	-1,0
Part-time fixed-term	4	0,9	29,7	67,4	7,4	9,4	6.107	0,9	8,8	-2,2	92	2,2	7,5	0,9
IMPROVED														
Passed to Standard	81	17,3	46,1	29,8	7,2	15,7	19.710	5,8	9,9	0,3	172	3,4	11,6	2,0
Others passed to Full-time	14	2,9	43,9	43,4	6,4	16,1	13.853	6,6	9,2	-0,8	153	9,9	9,8	-2,2
Others passed to open-ended	35	7,5	41,3	51,8	6,6	13,7	13.885	7,4	9,3	-1,2	133	4,0	11,3	4,
WORSENED														
Exited from Standard	30	6,3	51,6	33,3	5,9	16,4	15.373	-6,6	9,5	-0,4	154	-3,5	10,6	-2,8
Other exited from Full-time	10	2,1	41,4	53,7	6,6	13,3	10.827	-5,8	9,2	-1,4	118	-5,9	10,0	1,0
Others exited from open-ended	15	3,1	40,6	50,1	5,4	15,9	10.642	-4,9	9,1	-1,4	124	1,6	9,5	-5,
OTHER FLOWS	31	6,5	44,1	44,8	6,0	14,7	13.021	1,2	9,3	-1,1	138	1,7	10,1	0,0
TOTAL	469	100	41,6	40,2	6,9	14,2	16.249	0,8	9,6	-0,4	150	1,1	11,1	0,

Employees (a) who definitively escaped from the trap of low HGE since 2019, by type of change in job type and components of YGE. Years 2019-2022. (Numbers in

2.5. Employees who never succeeded to escape the low-earnings trap

A significant share of low-earnings (annual or hourly) employees never permanently exited their condition (Table 2.19). Those who showed a low YGE dynamics up to 2017, in the following years experienced significant reductions in the annual earnings due to lower duration and monthly intensity of labour contracts. The rebound in intensity and duration occurred in 2021 was insufficient to offset the compression occurred during the pandemic and to bring YGE back to early periods. In 2022, these individuals were also severely affected by the inflationary flare-up and their HGE returned below the level attained in 2015.

Those who never recovered steadily from low HGE showed similar features. However, they exhibited a greater overall resilience of YGE thanks mainly to monthly intensity an duration. The dynamics of their HGE though was very critical, and their level was never permanently above 8 euros: after all, the average level of YGE itself never exceeded 12 thousand euros.

Among those who never succeeded in raising their earnings, there was the prevalence of part-time contracts, especially permanent contracts, even among those suffering low HGE (Table 2.20). Those with a low YGE show a rather significant decrease in standard jobs especially between 2015 and 2019, and an increases in the intra-year mobility between types of contracts that denoted instability in labor relations.

More than half of these employees did not change the type of job, particularly in the case of part-time openended employees where women prevailed. Nearly stationary HGE were accompanied by weak dynamics of job intensity (Table 2.21). The wage dynamics of who experienced a worsening of job quality was decidedly more critical: the termination of standard jobs came along with a significant reduction in employment intensity and a decline in HGE.

Over 2019-2022, HGE declined significantly in real terms also for those whose job quality remained unchanged or even worsened, particularly for those who had a standard job in 2019 (Table 2.22). HGE worsened as well for part-time permanent jobs. The evolution of employees who never left low HGE appears critical. Up to 2019, the decline in HGE is quite conspicuous and widespread, regardless of changes in contractual conditions (Table 2.23). Duration and intensity of labor grew slightly, containing the regressive dynamics of total remuneration. The latter keeps growing only for employees who have been able to improve their job quality. On average in 2022 the annual pay of those who never exceeded YGE threshold remains very low (below 12 thousand euros), as does the hourly pay (below 8 euros) (Table 2.24). HGE deteriorated further after 2019 and this decline was finally offset by increases in intensity and duration only for individuals whose contractual conditions improved.

The YGE of persistent employees grew appreciably only for the youngest who started from very low levels in 2015 and that remained firmly below the levels of older employees (Table 2.25 and Table 2.26). About threequarters of young people aged 25-29 in 2022 (who were therefore 18-22 in 2015) experienced YGE below the threshold. Among the employees who never experienced low earnings, YGE increased with age, passing from 23,000 euros of the youngest to 31,000 euros of the eldest. The same does not happen for individuals below the threshold: the 20,000 euros recorded in 2022 by the segment that succeeded to escape low YGE remained almost constant by age group, as did the 10,000 euros of the segment that never managed to permanently exit from low YGE. A similar dynamic has been recorded for HGE.

As expected, gender wage gaps widened over the observed period: the wage dynamics were systematically weaker for women not only in terms of HGE but because of the lower intensity of labour contracts.

Table 2.19

			YGE			% char	nge over the	previous yea	ar
			YG	E components			YGE	E components	į
				Monthly				Monthly	
Years	Employees	YGE	HGE	intensity	Duration	YGE	HGE	intensity	Duration
					YGE				
2015	1.405	11.049	9,9	118	9,5				
2016	1.405	12.092	9,9	118	10,3	9,4	0,6	-0,1	8,9
2017	1.405	12.132	9,9	117	10,5	0,3	-0,6	-0,8	1,8
2018	1.405	11.923	9,8	116	10,4	-1,7	-0,6	-0,8	-0,3
2019	1.405	11.400	9,8	114	10,2	-4,4	0,0	-2,3	-2,1
2020	1.405	10.978	9,9	113	9,9	-3,7	0,3	-0,5	-3,5
2021	1.405	11.735	9,8	117	10,3	6,9	-0,9	3,6	4,1
2022	1.405	10.114	9,0	117	9,6	-13,8	-7,8	0,2	-6,7
					HGE				
2015	580	10.203	8,5	128	9,4				
2016	580	11.368	8,5	129	10,3	11,4	0,1	1,2	10,0
2017	580	11.519	8,4	131	10,5	1,3	-1,8	0,9	2,2
2018	580	11.447	8,1	133	10,6	-0,6	-3,0	1,7	0,6
2019	580	11.311	7,9	135	10,6	-1,2	-2,3	1,2	-0,1
2020	580	11.199	8,0	135	10,3	-1,0	1,0	0,6	-2,6
2021	580	11.885	8,1	138	10,7	6,1	0,8	1,9	3,4
2022	580	11.467	7.8	140	10.6	-3.5	-4.0	1.2	-0.6

Sources: Istat, Population register 2015-2022, Business register 2015-2021, Income register 2015-2022. Inps, Uniemens 2015-2022. Note: (a) Only persistent employees

Table 2.20

Employees (a) who never defini type of job. Years 2015, 2019 e 2	tively e 2022 (N	scaped umbers	I from t in thou	he trap sands;	o of lo % com	w earni position	ngs, by is)	year,	type o	f thres	hold a	nd
Condizioni contrattuali	2015	2019	2022	2015	2019	2022	2015	2019	2022	2015	2019	2022
			Y	GE					Н	GE		
Standard	309	228	246	22,0	16,3	17,5	153	156	180	26,4	26,8	31,0
Full-time short-term	164	180	185	11,7	12,8	13,1	67	62	60	11,6	10,7	10,3
Part-time open-ended	555	611	590	39,5	43,5	42,0	184	184	176	31,6	31,7	30,4
Part-time short-term	125	101	93	8,9	7,2	6,6	56	38	34	9,6	6,5	5,9
Mixed types, also standard	115	111	135	8,2	7,9	9,6	59	65	66	10,2	11,2	11,4
Other mixed types	137	174	157	9,7	12,4	11,2	61	75	63	10,6	13,0	10,9
Total	1.405	1.405	1.405	100	100	100	580	580	580	100	100	100
Sources: Istat, Population register 2015-	2022, Bu	siness re	egister 20	15-2021	, Incom	e register	r 2015-20	22. Inps	, Uniem	ens 201	5-2022.	
Note: (a) Only persistent employees												

				Incider	nce %			YGE	<u> </u>	HGE	Mont	nly intensity	Di	Jration
Changes in job type between 2015 and 2019	Total	Dist %	25-34	Females	ISCED 6-7-8	Foreign	2019	Avg.growth rate 2015- 2019	2019	Avg.growth rate 2015- 2019	2019	Avg.growth rate 2015- 2019	2019	Avg.growtr rate 2015- 2019
UNCHANGED	1 Orda	0.00 /0)/0.	1 omaioo	010	r or orgri.	2010	2010	2010	2010		2010	2010	2010
Standard	154	10.9	14.8	34.2	8.1	9.2	21.022	-1.6	11.5	0.3	169	-0.1	10.9	-1.9
Full-time fixed-term	81	5,8	21,1	35,6	6,3	11,3	10.771	0,6	10,0	-0,3	147	0,5	7,3	0,5
Part-time open-ended	438	31,2	12,2	76,6	7,3	10,2	9.568	-0,5	9,5	0,0	86	-0,6	11,7	0,1
Part-time fixed-term	30	2,2	27,1	68,2	8,2	9,6	6.158	1,2	9,2	-0,5	89	-0,1	7,5	1,7
IMPROVED														
Passed to Standard	75	5,3	34,4	37,5	8,4	15,5	17.151	5,2	9,9	0,3	168	4,3	10,3	0,4
Others passed to Full-time	47	3,3	32,6	47,5	6,8	15,5	10.955	2,5	9,3	-0,5	140	7,5	8,4	-4,2
Others passed to open-ended	138	9,8	30,4	62,2	8,3	12,7	10.264	4,9	9,1	0,0	101	0,8	11,1	4,1
WORSENED														
Exited from Standard	156	11,1	22,5	41,2	6,4	10,4	10.997	-13,6	9,8	-1,8	123	-8,5	9,2	-3,9
Other exited from Full-time	66	4,7	29,3	53,4	7,1	12,2	9.105	-3,3	9,3	-0,5	103	-6,3	9,5	3,7
Others exited from open-ended	98	7,0	26,4	57,5	6,4	13,3	8.438	-6,8	9,2	-1,2	103	-1,3	8,9	-4,3
OTHER FLOWS	124	8,8	32,1	54,4	6,9	13,5	9.679	0,7	9,2	-0,6	115	-0,5	9,2	1,8
TOTAL	1.405	100	21,7	56,7	7,3	11,5	11.400	-1,5	9,7	-0,4	115	-1,0	10,2	-0,2

Table 2.22

Employees (a) who never definitively escaped from the trap of low earnings, by type of change in job type and components of YGE. Years 2019-2022. (Numbers in thousands, incidence%, Annual average rates of growth. Values at constant 2015 prices)

				Inciden	ce %			YGE		HGE	Month	ly intensity	D	uration
Changes in job type between			25-34		ISCED			Avg.growth rate 2019-		Avg.growth rate 2019-		Avg.growth rate 2019-		Avg.growth rate 2019-
2019 and 2022	Total	Dist. %	yrs.	Females	6-7-8	Foreign.	2022	2022	2022	2022	2022	2022	2022	2022
UNCHANGED								1				1		
Standard	122	8,7	18,3	32,1	9,1	10,3	10.185	-20,5	10,0	-4,0	162	-1,3	6,3	-16,2
Full-time fixed-term	85	6,0	19,0	34,8	5,8	12,0	10.854	0,2	9,4	-1,7	150	0,7	7,7	1,3
Part-time open-ended	472	33,6	12,6	77,4	7,7	10,0	8.329	-4,4	8,7	-2,4	87	0,3	10,9	-2,4
Part-time fixed-term	28	2,0	20,1	69,6	7,8	8,6	5.912	0,0	8,6	-2,2	92	1,2	7,5	1,0
IMPROVED														
Passed to Standard	124	8,8	33,3	34,5	7,6	13,6	16.690	17,2	9,3	-0,7	170	11,2	10,5	6,2
Others passed to Full-time	65	4,6	30,5	48,3	6,6	14,0	11.824	6,1	8,8	-1,9	149	12,5	9,0	-3,9
Others passed to open-ended	134	9,5	29,9	55,5	7,0	12,5	12.050	11,1	8,8	-1,2	124	5,3	11,0	6,8
WORSENED														
Exited from Standard	106	7,6	24,7	39,0	7,2	12,4	9.821	-19,9	9,1	-4,6	132	-8,0	8,2	-8,7
Other exited from Full-time	50	3,6	26,9	54,5	6,9	11,4	8.785	-8,2	8,8	-2,8	110	-7,3	9,2	1,9
Others exited from open-ender	96	6,8	24,6	61,2	6,5	12,5	8.366	-9,3	8,7	-3,3	110	0,9	8,8	-7,1
OTHER FLOWS	124	8,9	29,8	54,4	6,2	12,5	9.900	1,2	8,7	-2,0	122	2,1	9,4	1,1
TOTAL	1.405	100	21.7	56,7	7,3	11.5	10.114	-2,7	9,0	-2,4	120	1,5	9,6	-2,1
Sources: Istat, Population register 2 Note: (a) Only persistent employee	015-2022, s	Business r	egister 2015	5-2021, Income	register 20	15-2022. Inp	s, Uniemen	s 2015-2022.						

Table 2.23

				Inciden	ce %		, · · · ·	/GE		HGE	Mont	nly intensity	D	uration
Changes in job type between 2015 and 2019	Total	Dist. %	25-34 yrs.	Females	ISCED 6-7-8	Foreign.	2019	Avg.growth rate 2015- 2019	2019	Avg.growth rate 2015- 2019	2019	Avg.growth rate 2015- 2019	2019	Avg.growt rate 2015 2011
UNCHANGED														
Standard	91	15,7	24,1	37,2	4,9	11,1	16.106	-0,8	8,0	-1,3	175	0,4	11,5	0,1
Full-time fixed-term	23	4,0	26,3	36,9	5,9	12,7	9.725	0,0	8,3	-3,1	149	1,6	7,9	1,5
Part-time open-ended	122	21,0	15,6	73,0	5,0	14,4	9.240	-0,3	7,9	-1,4	101	1,0	11,7	0,2
Part-time fixed-term	11	1,8	29,4	66,7	6,7	11,5	5.530	0,0	8,0	-2,6	90	1,0	7,6	1,7
IMPROVED														
Passed to Standard	65	11,2	40,9	36,3	5,3	16,8	15.334	7,0	7,8	-1,8	174	5,5	11,3	3,3
Others passed to Full-time	23	4,0	37,1	46,7	5,5	17,9	11.059	4,8	7,9	-3,5	150	10,5	9,3	-1,7
Others passed to open-ended	61	10,6	33,1	55,8	5,7	16,4	10.691	7,3	7,9	-2,0	121	4,1	11,3	5,1
WORSENED														
Exited from Standard	62	10,7	28,0	38,7	4,6	12,6	10.997	-10,7	8,1	-4,4	139	-4,9	9,7	-1,8
Other exited from Full-time	24	4,1	33,8	51,0	5,9	15,3	8.504	-2,7	8,0	-2,7	112	-4,4	9,5	4,7
Others exited from open-ender	40	6,9	27,5	57,8	4,9	15,6	8.144	-5,4	8,1	-3,4	109	1,3	9,3	-3,4
OTHER FLOWS	57	9,9	32,4	53,7	5,9	15,5	9.797	1,4	8,0	-2,7	127	1,7	9,7	2,4
TOTAL	580	100	27,7	51.3	5.3	14,4	11.311	0,1	7,9	-2,3	134	1.4	10,6	1.0

				Incident	xe %			YGE		HGE	Month	ly intensity	D	uration
Changes in job type between 2019 and 2022	Total	Dist %	25-34 yrs.	Females	ISCED 6-7-8	Foreign.	2022	Avg.growth rate 2019- 2022	2022	Avg.growth rate 2019- 2022	2022	Avg.growth rate 2019- 2022	2022	Avg.growt rate 2019 2023
UNCHANGED						Ů								
Standard	111	19,1	29,5	35,8	5,1	13,1	15.189	-1,2	7,6	-0,3	175	-0,1	11,4	-0,7
Full-time fixed-term	23	3,9	22,7	36,6	5,6	13,0	10.059	2,9	8,2	-0,1	151	0,9	8,1	2,1
Part-time open-ended	131	22,5	15,5	73,9	5,2	14,3	8.659	-2,2	7,4	-1,2	103	0,3	11,3	-1,2
Part-time fixed-term	9	1,6	22,4	68,3	6,6	10,0	5.337	1,3	7,7	-1,2	91	1,1	7,6	1,4
IMPROVED														
Passed to Standard	69	11,9	36,8	34,6	5,3	16,1	15.764	9,4	8,0	0,0	175	5,9	11,3	3,2
Others passed to Full-time	26	4,5	33,6	48,4	5,4	16,7	11.303	6,2	7,9	-1,2	154	10,9	9,3	-3,1
Others passed to open-ended	54	9,3	30,7	54,3	5,5	15,3	11.519	10,3	7,9	-0,1	130	4,3	11,2	5,8
WORSENED														
Exited from Standard	44	7,7	35,2	39,4	4,9	14,4	11.590	-10,0	7,9	-2,2	148	-4,8	9,9	-3,4
Other exited from Full-time	19	3,4	30,8	53,9	5,4	13,7	8.600	-4,3	7,8	-1,1	116	-6,7	9,5	3,7
Others exited from open-ender	35	6,0	27,8	60,6	4,9	15,6	8.255	-6,5	7,7	-2,5	116	1,6	9,2	-5,6
OTHER FLOWS	58	10,1	31,8	54,1	5,4	14,3	9.932	1,5	7,9	-0,8	129	1,0	9,8	1,3
TOTAL	580	100	27,7	51,3	5,3	14,4	11.467	0,6	7,7	-0,9	139	1,3	10,6	0,1

Table 2.25

					Age class				Gend	er
Level of gross earnings	Totale	25-29	30-34	35-39	40-44	45-49	50-54	55-60	Female	Mal
Total employees	7.715	298	744	1.015	1.216	1.480	1.484	1.477	3.049	4.66
					% Comp	osition				
Never below any threshold	70,4	26,3	49,4	65,9	72,8	76, 1	77,8	77,8	62,4	75,
Above the thresholds from 2019	11,4	37,2	24,4	14,2	10,0	8,2	7,2	6,2	11,5	11,
Never definitively above the threshold	18,2	36,6	26, 2	20,0	17,2	15,6	15,0	15,9	26, 1	13,
YGE in 2022										
Total	23.972	17.374	19.719	22.082	23.579	24.746	25.913	26.345	20.422	26.29
Never below any threshold	28.196	22.328	23.811	25.982	27.275	28.338	29.622	30.421	25.475	29.66
Above the thresholds from 2019	20.028	19.885	20.962	20.367	19.658	19.476	19.503	19.661	18.537	21.02
Never definitively above the threshold	10.114	11.268	10.862	10.445	10.199	10.033	9.731	9.038	9.189	11.32
				Average ar	nual rate o	f growth 20	15-2022			
Total	1,0	9,3	4,7	2,4	1,1	0,5	0,1	-0,5	0,8	1,
Never below any threshold	0,3	3,3	2,4	1,7	0,8	0,2	-0, 1	-0,6	0,2	0,4
Above the thresholds from 2019	12,4	18,5	15,3	12,7	10,8	10, 1	9,8	9,7	11,6	13,
Never definitively above the threshold	-1,3	8,2	1,8	-1,0	-1,9	-2,2	-2,5	-4,5	-1,4	-1,
HGE in 2022										
Total	13,3	10,0	11,1	12,3	13,0	13,6	14,2	14,7	12,5	13,
Never below any threshold	14,3	11,0	11,9	13,2	13,9	14,4	15, 1	15,6	13,7	14,0
Above the thresholds from 2019	10,5	10, 1	10,8	10,7	10,4	10,4	10,4	10,5	10,3	10,0
Never definitively above the threshold	9,0	8,8	8,9	9,0	9,0	9,0	9,0	9,1	8,8	9,2
				Average ar	nnual rate o	fgrowth 20	15-2022			
Total	0,1	1,9	1,6	1,2	0,4	-0,1	-0,4	-0,7	-0,1	0,
Never below any threshold	0,3	2,5	2,0	1,6	0,8	0,2	-0,2	-0,6	0,2	0,
Above the thresholds from 2019	1,2	2,7	2,5	1,5	0,6	0,2	0,0	-0,1	0,9	1,
Never definitively above the threshold	-1,2	0,6	-0,2	-0,9	-1,4	-1,6	-1,7	-2,1	-1,2	-1,

Note: (a) Only persistent employees

			Educatio	on level (IS	CED)	
Posizione rispetto alla soglia	Totale	0-2	3	4-5	6	7-8
Total employees	7.715	2.311	4.048	367	958	30
		ç	% Composi	tion		
Never below any threshold	70,4	66, 3	70,9	66,5	79,3	80,8
Above the thresholds from 2019	11,4	11,1	11,4	16,4	10,2	11,0
Never definitively above the threshold	18,2	22, 6	17,7	17,1	10,4	8,2
YGE in 2022						
Total	23.972	19.932	23.237	25.530	35.748	39.115
Never below any threshold	28.196	23.576	27.091	30.292	40.510	43.60
Above the thresholds from 2019	20.028	18.834	19.450	21.780	24.543	27.17
Never definitively above the threshold	10.114	9.786	10.248	10.640	10.516	10.934
	Ave	erage annu	al rate of gi	rowth 2015	-2022	
Total	1,0	0,3	0,8	2,7	1,9	2,8
Never below any threshold	0,3	-0,3	0, 1	1,5	1,4	2,2
Above the thresholds from 2019	12,4	10,2	12,0	16,5	17,4	20,4
Never definitively above the threshold	-1,3	-1,6	-1, 1	0,4	-1,6	-1,3
HGE in 2022						
Total	13,2	11,2	12,9	14,2	19,2	20,6
Never below any threshold	14,3	11,9	13,8	15,6	20,7	22,
Above the thresholds from 2019	10,5	9,8	10,3	11,4	12,9	14,2
Never definitively above the threshold	9,0	8,8	9,0	9,4	9,7	10,1
	Ave	erage annu	al rate of gi	rowth 2015	-2022	
Total	0,0	-0,6	-0,2	0,9	0,9	1,6
Never below any threshold	0,3	-0,4	0, 1	1,4	1,3	2,0
Above the thresholds from 2019	1,0	0,2	0,9	2,4	2,7	3,5
Never definitively above the threshold	-1,3	-1,3	-1,3	-0,8	-1,5	-1,1

Part 3. Employers and low earnings

One of the side issue in the debate on low earning is which economic activities and what kind of enterprises generate them. Although poor pay conditions are spread across all types of businesses and economic activities, there are important differences that are worth of investigation. Based on the results and approaches described in Part 2 of the paper, in this paragraph we analyze, firstly, low earnings on a cross-section perspective. By exploiting the link between employees and their main employer on a yearly basis, we provide an insight of the general characteristics of the business structure (such as economic activity, size, and type of governance) associated to the level of gross earnings in years 2015-2022. Secondly, we investigate on a longitudinal perspective, which conditions and which characteristics of the employers were associated to the transitions of workers from below to above the thresholds, or to the employees that never had the opportunity to escape from the low-earnings trap.

3.1. Business structure, employment and employees

Istat business register (BR) counts about 4.5 mln enterprises: one out of three has at least one employee, so about 1.5 mln enterprises are involved in our analysis each year (Table 3.1). Most of them (1.25 mln) are micro-enterprises with less than 10 persons employed. More than 500 thousands are individual enterprises, although 75% of the employees in the register are concentrated in enterprises with more complex governance and a significant portion of employees work in larger enterprises. The business register estimates 12.7 mln

employees³⁰. The difference between the number of employees estimated in the register (a weekly average) and the headcount of the individuals enrolled during the whole year – at least for a few weeks – deserves some comment. In those domains where lower quality contracts are more frequently used, especially fixed-term contracts, the duration of labour relations is shorter. The difference between headcounts and the standard measure of employment, that would be null if jobs were ideally continuous along the year, is present in every economic sector and size class, and it is extremely interesting since it describes at a glance the degree of stability of jobs in each specific domain. In 2021, the 14.5 mln individuals that were enrolled in industry and services correspond to 12.7 mln employees in the average week. This 14% scrap is an average, and varies considerably across sectors, the difference being greater in some services, like for instance horeca, support services (mainly cleaning and temporary work agencies), recreation, education, and constructions. About 4.5 mln workers are involved in these sectors and they count for 3,4 mln employees. The same scrap is lower than 5% in Industry and Finance where more than 70% of individuals experienced only standard jobs during the year. In some sectors (horeca, recreation, and support services) there is a widespread use of fixed term contracts but in others (trade and most services serving households) part-time contracts prevail³¹.

Table 3.1

Emplo	yers and employees, by ty	pe of co	ntract, N	lace, b	usiness	size and	gover	nance. Ye	ear 2021				
		Busine	ss Regis	ter (BF	R) data		Indi	viduals (a) in the pay-	roll of the en	terprises durir	ng the year	
		No.	Emp	loyees	i (b)			diff%	by type	of labour co	ontract in the y	ear (incidenc	e,%)
		enter-						Head-		always	always Part-	always	other
		prises	N			Number		count	always	Full-time	time open-	Part-time	combi-
Nace		(.000)	(.000)	%	Avg.	(.000)	%	vs. BR	Standard	fixed term	ended	fixed-term	nations
Total		1.468	12.746	100	8,7	14.530	100	14,0	52,0	9,8	18,0	7,7	12,5
NACE													
С	MANUFACTURING	212	3.261	25,6	15,4	3.373	23,2	103	76,0	5,2	9,3	1,7	7,8
B,D,E	REST OF INDUSTRY	10	304	2,4	30,6	312	2,1	2,5	79,2	4,5	7,4	2,3	6,6
F	CONSTRUCTION	183	929	7,3	5,1	1.100	7,6	18,4	58,7	15,7	6,9	2,7	16,0
G	TRADE	356	2.215	17,4	6,2	2.435	16,8	9,9	49,1	5,0	26,5	7,5	11,9
Н	TRANSPORTATION	51	1.012	7,9	19,9	1.108	7,6	9,5	62,5	9,5	9,8	4,5	13,7
1	HORECA	215	999	7,8	4,6	1.503	10,3	50,4	15,6	20,3	25,0	19,0	20,2
J	INFORMATION	40	511	4,0	12,9	561	3,9	9,9	71,5	7,5	13,1	2,2	5,7
К	FINANCE	22	452	3,5	20,6	474	3,3	5,0	79,8	1,7	14,2	0,6	3,7
L,M	PROFESSIONAL	140	685	5,4	4,9	760	5,2	10,9	57,8	6,6	21,4	4,4	9,9
Ν	SUPPORT SERVICES	57	1.297	10,2	22,6	1.616	11,1	24,7	23,4	20,9	20,6	15,8	19,3
Р	EDUCATION	11	83	0,7	7,3	104	0,7	24,3	26,1	5,9	29,2	26,9	11,9
Q	HUMAN HEALTH	69	653	5,1	9,5	723	5,0	10,7	32,2	4,2	37,4	13,4	12,8
R	RECREATION	21	103	0,8	5,0	172	1,2	66,3	20,2	23,4	17,4	23,9	15,1
S	OTHER SERVICES	81	242	1,9	3,0	290	2,0	19,5	31,5	6,2	36,9	10,9	14,5
SIZE (CLASS												
Micro (<10 pers.employed)	1.257	3.119	24,5	2,5	3.972	27,3	27,3	35,3	10,1	28,3	11,7	14,7
Small	(10-49 pers.employed)	182	3.182	25,0	17,5	3.552	24,4	11,6	54,7	10,4	14,6	6,6	13,7
Mediur	m (50-249 pers.employed)	24	2.356	18,5	97,5	2.534	17,4	7,6	63,3	8,8	11,5	5,5	10,9
Large	(>250 pers.employed)	4	4.089	32,1	955,5	4.472	30,8	9,4	58,4	9,7	15,2	6,2	10,5
GOVE	RNANCE												
Individ	ual firms	522	1.062	8,4	2,0	1.357	9.3	28	27.2	9.0	35.6	13,4	14.8
Other r	partnerships	284	1.064	8,4	3,7	1.289	8,8	21	40.2	11.1	24.6	9,9	14.2
Joint-s	lock companies	616	9.361	73,4	14,9	10.633	72,6	14	58,5	10,2	13,5	6.0	11.8
Other of	companies	45	1.259	9,9	27,9	1.370	9,4	9	37,6	6,8	28,9	12,9	13,8
									,		,		
Sources	: Istat, Business register 2015-20	21, Income	register (2015-20	22), Popu	lation registe	er (2015-	2022)					

Sources: Istat, Business register 2015-2021, income register (2015-2022), Population register (2015-2022) Notes: (a) Individuals in the resident population (only residents in household). (b) Average weekly employees.

3.2. Employers and gross earnings

The tie between standard jobs and the level of hourly wages previously highlighted inevitably implies that firms providing better pay conditions are also those where full-time, permanent jobs prevail (Table 3.2). Recent studies remark that the number of these firms is relatively small but that they are large enough to recruit the bulk of non-agricultural workforce and the most performing activities where hourly wages are on average

³⁰ According to international standards, the business register reports the annual average of the weekly number of employees by enterprise. An individual enrolled for 6 months, for example, is equivalent to 0.5 employees on an annual basis.

³¹ It is important to make clear that in this context we concentrate on the individuals traced in the pay roll of the enterprises, with a head-count approach; thus the term employee will be used to address these individuals and not their equivalent measure in terms of employment. That definition of the register though is adopted to determine, for example, the size class of enterprises.

above 15 euros (Chart 3.1)³². Apart from them, hourly wages become poorer as firms seem acting mostly on job intensity offering part-time and fixed-term contracts. Our entire set of low-paid employees gradually experienced lower intensities and durations of the employment relationships, showing hourly wages steadily below the average. In this respect the firm scale and the type of governance also matter. Employees of micro-enterprises and individual firms show very low annual earnings due to lower levels of all the wage components.

On the other hand, if we compare the distribution of employees by YGE and by HGE it is clear that the first distribution is less concentrated than the latter (Chart 3.2). Take for example the median value in YGE distribution: it was about 18 thousands euro in 2021 (at constant 2015 prices). This median ranges from 31,000 for an employees in finance and communications to 12,000 euro for an employees in personal services, 23,000 euro for industry and to 19,000 in construction, 16,000 in business services and 13,000 in Horeca. One half of all employees has a YGE between 9 and 25,000 euro. Consider now HGE. The overall median is 10.4 euro, ranging from 9.3 in personal services to 11.5 in industry, peaking 16.3 in finance and communications. Interquartile range is between 9 and 13 euro. Only for a small part of workers the variability in YGE can be explained by HGE, while intensity and duration play a major role in explaining the differences among economic activities.

Between 2015 and 2022 the dynamics of real gross earnings showed a sharp decline (Table 3.3): the average yearly change was -1.3%. Up till 2018, the decline was sharper in Horeca and in some services serving households. The reduction in monthly intensity of jobs drove the decline, due a more intense use of part-time and short-term contracts. In the same time span, real HGE also lost ground declining also in the following years until 2021, although with some remarkable differences among sectors. In manufacturing, for instance, real hourly earnings were quite stable, in construction and trade they decreased, in Horeca they marginally recovered from the former decline. Between 2018 and 2021, duration and monthly intensity had the most important role in driving the increase in annual earnings. In 2022, the rise in inflation cut real earnings quite uniformly across sectors.

³² These aspects were studied in a cross section analysis in Istat (2022).

Table 3.2

Gross	earnings of employees, by	/ Nace, siz	ze class ar	nd governa	ance. Yea	r 2021 (valu	ues at const	ant 2015 p	rices)	
			Per ca	pita gross e	earnings in	2021	In	dices. Base	: Total=10	0
				С	omponent	s		С	omponent	\$
			Annual	Hourly	Monthly		Annual	Hourly		
		Number	gross	gross	intensity	Duration	gross	gross	Monthly	
Nace		(.000)	earnings	earnings	(b)	(C)	earnings	earnings	intensity	Duration
Total		14.530	20.056	13,0	149,5	10,3	100	100	100	100
NACE										
С	MANUFACTURING	3.373	25.065	13,5	164,4	11,3	125	104	110	110
B,D,E	REST OF INDUSTRY	312	28.934	15,7	161,4	11,4	144	121	108	111
F	CONSTRUCTION	1.100	18.851	11,7	161,6	10,0	94	90	108	97
G	TRADE	2.435	19.514	12,6	145,0	10,7	97	97	97	104
Н	TRANSPORTATION	1.108	21.731	12,8	157,7	10,7	108	98	105	105
I	HORECA	1.503	9.033	9,7	117,2	7,9	45	75	78	77
J	INFORMATION	561	28.466	16,5	160,3	10,7	142	127	107	105
K	FINANCE	474	42.635	23,2	157,1	11,7	213	178	105	114
L,M	PROFESSIONAL	760	24.007	14,8	152,6	10,6	120	113	102	103
Ν	SUPPORT SERVICES	1.616	12.574	10,1	135,7	9,2	63	77	91	89
Ρ	EDUCATION	104	12.025	11,9	110,5	9,2	60	91	74	89
Q	HUMAN HEALTH	723	14.554	10,8	130,7	10,3	73	83	87	100
R	RECREATION	172	12.565	13,2	128,0	7,4	63	101	86	72
S	OTHER SERVICES	290	11.263	8,8	128,9	9,9	56	68	86	96
SIZE C	CLASS									
Micro (<10 pers.employed)	3.972	13.504	10,7	133,8	9,4	67	82	90	91
Small	(10-49 pers.employed)	3.552	18.948	11,9	153,8	10,4	94	91	103	101
Mediur	n (50-249 pers.employed)	2.534	23.433	13,7	158,4	10,8	117	105	106	105
Large	(>250 pers.employed)	4.472	24.841	15,1	153,3	10,7	124	116	103	104
GOVE	RNANCE									
Individ	ual firms	1.347	11.128	9,7	123,3	9,3	55	74	82	91
Other p	partnerships	1.279	14.224	10,4	140,1	9,8	71	80	94	95
Joint-st	ock companies	10.552	22.227	13,7	155,1	10,5	111	105	104	102
Other of	companies	1.352	17.527	12,5	137,3	10,2	87	95	92	100
-										

Sources: Istat, Business register 2015-2021, Income register (2015-2022), Population register (2015-2022) Notes: (a) Individuals in the resident population (only residents in household). (b) Number of workable hours per month. (c) Number of months as employees

Chart 3.1. NACE sections and Manufacture divisions by average hourly gross earnings and monthly intensity of jobs. Bubbles are proportional to average duration of labour contracts. Year 2021

a) NACE sections



b) Manufacture divisions







Table 3.3

		Annual	gross ea	rnings	Hourly	gross ear	nings	Month	ly intensity	/ (b)	D	uration (c)	1
		2015-	2018-	2015-	2015-	2018-	2015-	2015-	2018-	2015-	2015-	2018-	2015-
Nace		2018	2021	2022 (d)	2018	2021	2022 (d)	2018	2021	2022 (d)	2018	2021	2022 (d)
Total		-0,8	0,3	-1,3	-0,8	-0,1	-1,4	-0,4	0,3	-0,1	0,3	0,1	0,2
С	MANUFACTURING	-0,3	0,3	-1,0	-0,6	0,0	-1,1	-0,1	0,1	0,0	0,4	0,2	0,1
B,D,E	REST OF INDUSTRY	-0,5	-0,3	-1,5	-0,9	-0,8	-1,8	0,4	0,3	0,3	0,1	0,2	0,1
F	CONSTRUCTION	0,0	0,8	-0,3	-1,2	-0,4	-1,5	-0,2	0,2	0,0	1,3	1,0	1,2
G	TRADE	0,1	0,0	-1,1	0,0	-0,5	-1,2	-0,5	0,1	-0,1	0,6	0,4	0,3
Н	TRANSPORTATION	0,0	0,0	-1,0	-0,4	-0,2	-1,3	0,0	0,1	0,1	0,4	0,1	0,2
I	HORECA	-1,8	-0,6	-1,4	-0,8	0,4	-1,3	-1,5	0,5	-0,3	0,5	-1,4	0,1
J	INFORMATION	-0,7	-0,6	-1,5	-1,0	-0,5	-1,6	-0,1	0,2	0,0	0,4	-0,3	0,0
K	FINANCE	0,4	0,2	-1,0	-0,3	0,1	-1,2	-0,2	0,1	0,0	0,8	0,0	0,2
L,M	PROFESSIONAL	1,3	0,3	-0,3	0,0	-0,2	-1,0	0,3	0,3	0,2	1,1	0,2	0,5
N	SUPPORT SERVICES	-0,1	1,0	-0,4	-0,7	0,0	-1,3	0,4	0,9	0,7	0,2	0,1	0,2
Р	EDUCATION	1,4	-0,4	-0,3	-0,5	-0,5	-1,5	0,2	0,4	0,4	1,7	-0,3	0,8
Q	HUMAN HEALTH	-0,6	0,2	-1,3	-0,7	0,7	-1,1	-0,2	0,0	-0,1	0,3	-0,5	-0,2
R	RECREATION	-1,5	2,3	-1,2	-0,8	1,6	-1,1	-1,3	1,4	-0,2	0,6	-0,7	0,1
S	OTHER SERVICES	-0,9	0,5	-1,2	-0,7	-0,2	-1,3	-0,9	0,2	-0,2	0,6	0,5	0,3

Notes: (a) Individuals in the resident population (only resients in household). (b) Number of workable hours per month. (c) Number of months as employees. (d) 2022 data are provisional, since Business register data are referred to 2021

3.3. Employers and employees with low earnings

The economic activities with a high propensity to pay low wages emerge quite clearly from Table 3.4 and most of them belong to services. In Horeca and recreation, the sectors most affected by undeclared employment, more than two employees out of three is below YGE threshold. In support services (where subcontracting is frequent), education and other household services more than 50% of employees have low YGE. In construction the incidence of employees below the annual threshold, which was more than 30% in 2015, declined due mainly to an increase in the duration of labour contracts: this sector benefited strongly from the specific fiscal incentives provided by the Government to refurbish private outlets.

The incidence of low HGE follows in part the same scheme: nevertheless, it should be noticed the higher share of individuals below the threshold in support services and in the other services where contractual hourly wages are generally very low and subcontracting very high.

Low earnings have a relatively minor impact in manufacturing; nonetheless, these activities still account for a remarkable share of low wage earners, given that they involve a large number of employees. If we consider the threshold on annual earnings, nearly 10% of employees below the threshold come from manufacturing and another 15% from trade activities. Horeca accounts almost for another 25%, and support services nearly 20%.

On the other side, if we consider hourly gross earnings we find that support services account for 30% of total individuals below the threshold. Manufacturing, trade and the other services serving households also provide larger shares. All these sectors together explain more than two thirds of individuals with low hourly earnings.

If we consider two-digit NACE, and in particular the first twenty divisions with higher incidence of employees below the threshold of YGE, we find out that they account for more than 50% of total employees in industry and services and nearly 80% of employees with low annual earnings (Table 3.5). At the top of the rank, we find services like recreation, Horeca, cleaning services, personal and education services, employment agencies. In all these cases, more than a half of employees are in the low-wage area. We find in this rank also manufacturing activities dealing with food products and wearing apparels. Also construction belong to this restricted set. The average incidence of individuals with low annual earnings of this top twenty activities is 45.1%, more than the triple than the rest of NACE divisions.

Most of the sectors rank similarly with reference to low hourly gross earnings. In this case, the top twenty divisions include textiles and leather in manufacturing and all the logistics. At the top of the rank we find the activities related to security and cleaning of offices and buildings, often tied to outsourcing by larger enterprises and public administration. These top twenty divisions account for more than 75% of the employees with low hourly wages.

Table 3.4

Emplo	oyees (a) with low gross	s earnin	gs, by N	lace and	d type o	f thresh	nold. Ye	ars 2015	-2022								
				Incide	nce on to	otal emple	ovees						Distrib	ution			
		2015	2016	2017	2018	2019	2020	2021 2	022 (b)	2015	2016	2017	2018	2019	2020	2021	2022 (b)
								LOI	V ANNUAL	EARNINGS	S						
TOTAL	E	30,3	29,5	30,2	30,1	30,1	29,9	29,7	29,3	100	100	100	100	100	100	100	100
С	MANUFACTURING	13,7	13,0	13,0	12,7	12,4	12,4	12,2	12,4	11,4	10,9	10,3	10,0	9,7	9,9	9,5	9,5
B,D,E	REST OF INDUSTRY	9,5	9,2	9,1	9,2	9,1	9,0	8,9	8,9	0,7	0,7	0,7	0,6	0,6	0,7	0,6	0,6
F	CONSTRUCTION	30,3	28,3	28,0	27,6	26,6	25,3	24,9	22,8	7,7	7,0	6,4	6,2	6,0	6,0	6,4	6,4
G	TRADE	27,7	26,3	26,1	26,0	26,3	26,4	26,2	26,8	15,4	15,1	14,6	14,5	14,7	14,9	14,8	14,8
Н	TRANSPORTATION	20,4	19,4	19,3	18,8	19,0	18,9	18,2	18,0	5,3	5,2	5,0	4,8	4,9	4,9	4,7	4,7
I	HORECA	66,9	65,9	67,2	66,9	67,0	69,4	69,5	65,8	21,6	22,3	24,4	24,8	25,3	24,2	24,2	24,2
J	INFORMATION	15,8	13,8	13,9	14,8	15,1	14,1	15,9	15,8	1,9	1,7	1,7	1,8	1,8	1,8	2,1	2,1
К	FINANCE	6,5	4,9	4,7	4,9	4,7	4,9	5,2	5,9	0,8	0,6	0,5	0,5	0,5	0,5	0,6	0,6
L,M	PROFESSIONAL	28,1	24,7	24,3	24,4	23.8	22.8	23,7	24,0	4,3	4,1	3,9	4.0	3,9	3,9	4,2	4,2
N	SUPPORT SERVICES	53,8	53,2	52,9	51,8	51,5	53,0	51,0	49,4	17,7	18,4	18,9	18,9	18,5	19,1	19,1	19,1
Р	EDUCATION	58,6	55,6	54,7	54.0	53,6	54.1	54,2	52,8	1,3	1,3	1,2	1,2	1,2	1,3	1,3	1,3
Q	HUMAN HEALTH	37,9	38,7	37,1	37,0	37,2	37,9	37,5	37,8	5,7	6,2	5,8	5,9	6,0	6,4	6,3	6,3
R	RECREATION	64,7	62,8	64,7	65,4	66,4	64,7	65,5	65,6	2,5	2,5	2,7	2,8	2,8	2,5	2,6	2,6
S	OTHER SERVICES	56,8	56,2	56,4	56,9	57,3	57,4	56,1	55,9	3,8	3,9	3,9	4,0	4,0	4,0	3,8	3,8
								LOW	V HOURLY	EARNING	S						
TOTAL	E	9,4	9,6	11,3	11,9	11,5	10,9	10,5	9,3	100	100	100	100	100	100	100	100
С	MANUFACTURING	5,3	5,4	6,2	6,4	5,6	5,6	5,2	4,1	14,3	14,0	13,2	12,6	11,4	12,1	11,5	11,5
B,D,E	REST OF INDUSTRY	2,3	2,5	3,2	3,6	3,3	3,1	2,9	2,4	0,6	0,6	0,6	0,6	0,6	0,6	0,6	0,6
F	CONSTRUCTION	5,6	6,3	7,6	8,2	7,8	8,1	7,1	5,1	4,6	4,8	4,6	4,7	4,6	5,3	5,1	5,1
G	TRADE	4,0	4,0	4,6	4,9	4,8	4,9	4,9	4,5	7,2	7,0	6,9	6,8	7,1	7,5	7,8	7,8
Н	TRANSPORTATION	8,7	8,7	9,3	9,3	8,8	8,0	7,6	6,5	7,3	7,1	6,4	6,0	5,9	5,7	5,5	5,5
I.	HORECA	14,6	14,3	18,5	18,9	18,5	16,5	16,1	15,3	15,2	14,9	17,9	17,7	18,2	15,8	15,8	15,8
J	INFORMATION	3,0	3,0	3,5	4,0	4,0	3,5	3,9	3,5	1,2	1,1	1,1	1,2	1,3	1,2	1,4	1,4
K	FINANCE	1,3	1,3	1,4	1,5	1,5	1,5	1,6	1,5	0,5	0,5	0,4	0,4	0,4	0,4	0,5	0,5
L,M	PROFESSIONAL	8,1	7,1	8,0	8,7	8,7	7,7	7,7	7,1	4,0	3,6	3,4	3,6	3,8	3,6	3,8	3,8
N	SUPPORT SERVICES	25,1	25,9	28,6	30,5	30,0	30,3	28,4	24,8	26,7	27,6	27,3	28,1	28,2	29,9	30,0	30,0
Р	EDUCATION	11,8	12,4	14,0	14,5	14,3	14,6	15,9	12,7	0,8	0,9	0,8	0,8	0,8	0,9	1,1	1,1
Q	HUMAN HEALTH	8,6	8,9	11,7	13,0	11,6	8,6	8,3	7,1	4,1	4,4	4,9	5,2	4,9	4,0	3,9	3,9
R	RECREATION	16,7	17,0	20,5	21,6	22,2	21,4	22,5	22,1	2,1	2,1	2,3	2,3	2,5	2,3	2,5	2,5
S	OTHER SERVICES	52,7	52,9	54,8	56,3	55,8	56,0	55,7	52,6	11,5	11,4	10,0	9,9	10,3	10,6	10,5	10,5

Sources: Istat, Business register 2015-2021, Income register (2015-2022), Population register (2015-2022)

Notes: (a) Individuals aged 15-64 yrs. in the resident population (only residents in household, excludind those in refirement and entrepreneurs), in the pay-roll of enterprises in eah year. (b) 2022 data are provisional, since Business register data are referred to 2021

Table 3.5

Two-digit Nace with the highest incidence of employees with low gross earnings, by type of threshold. Year 2021

	LUW ANNUAL GRUE		GS					LOW HOURLY GROSS EARNIN	IGS		
				Share or	n total					Share o	n total
			%	employee	es (a)				%	employe	es (a)
			Employess		with low				Employess		with low
			below the		annual				below the		hourly
Nace	code and description (sec	tion and two-digit)	threshold	Total	earnings	Nace	code and description (see	tion and two-digit)	threshold	Total	earnings
R 93	RECREATION	Recreation and sports	74,7	0,7	1,9	S 96	OTHER SERVICES	Other personal services	58,3	1,9	10,3
156	HORECA	Food and beverage	69,5	8,1	19,0	N 80	SUPPORT SERVICES	Security and investigation	56,4	0,6	3,4
155	HORECA	Accommodation	69,3	2,2	5,2	N 81	SUPPORT SERVICES	Services to buildings and landscape	41,5	3,5	13,7
N 81	SUPPORT SERVICES	Services to buildings and landscape	61,2	3,5	7,2	R 93	RECREATION	Sports, amusement and recreation	28,6	0,7	2,0
S 96	OTHER SERVICES	Other personal services	57,7	1,9	3,6	M 73	PROFESSIONAL	Advertising and market research	27,2	0,5	1,2
P 85	EDUCATION	Education	54,2	0,7	1,3	N 82	SUPPORT SERVICES	Office and business support	22,2	2,0	4,1
N 78	SUPPORT SERVICES	Employment	53,1	4,5	8,0	C 14	MANUFACTURING	Manufacture of wearing apparel	20,8	1,1	2,2
Q 88	HUMAN HEALTH	Social work without accommodation	49,7	1,5	2,5	N 78	SUPPORT SERVICES	Employment	19,5	4,5	8,3
N 82	SUPPORT SERVICES	Office and business support	39,7	2,0	2,6	I 56	HORECA	Food and beverage service	16,9	8,1	13,0
L 68	REAL ESTATE	Real estate	38,8	0,7	0,9	P 85	EDUCATION	Education	15,9	0,7	1,1
Q 87	HUMAN HEALTH	Residential care	38,3	1,4	1,8	C 15	MANUFACTURING	Manufacture of leather	14,2	0,9	1,2
M 73	PROFESSIONAL	Advertising and market research	38,1	0,5	0,6	155	HORECA	Accommodation	13,0	2,2	2,8
N 80	SUPPORT SERVICES	Security and investigation	33,3	0,6	0,7	Q 88	HUMAN HEALTH	Social work without accommodation	12,5	1,5	1,8
G 47	TRADE	Other retail sale in specialised stores	32,6	9,2	10,1	H 52	TRANSPORTATION	Support for transportation	12,1	2,8	3,3
C 14	MANUFACTURING	Manufacture of wearing apparel	30,5	1,1	1,1	Q 87	HUMAN HEALTH	Residential care	9,8	1,4	1,3
C 10	MANUFACTURING	Manufacture of food products	28,4	2,6	2,5	L 68	REAL ESTATE	Real estate	9,7	0,7	0,6
Q 86	HUMAN HEALTH	Human health	28,2	2,1	2,0	G 45	TRADE	Trade and repair of motor vehicles	9,7	1,8	1,6
F 41	CONSTRUCTION	Construction of buildings	27,8	2,2	2,0	F 43	CONSTRUCTION	Specialised construction	9,5	4,7	4,3
F 43	CONSTRUCTION	Specialised construction	25,5	4,7	4,1	C 13	MANUFACTURING	Manufacture of textiles	9,0	0,7	0,6
M 69	PROFESSIONAL	Legal and accounting activities	24,1	1,3	1,0	M 74	PROFESSIONAL	Other professional, technical etc.	8,4	0,6	0,5
Total 2	20 with highest incidence I	below the threshold (b)	45,1	51,4	78,0	Total	20 with highest incidence	below the threshold (b)	29,3	40,9	77,3
Resto	fNace		13.4	48.6	22.0	Resto	fNace		-56.1	59.1	22.7
TOTA	L		29,7	100	100	TOTA	L		10,5	100	100
C	-	15 0001 (manual maniatra (2015 2022), Dan	lation mainten (20	45 0000)		-	ł				

Notes: (a) individuals aged 15-64 yrs. in the resident population (only residents in household, excludind those in retirement and entrepreneurs), in the pay-roll of enterprises in eah year. (b) Only Nace two-digit with at least 50 thousands employeees

3.5. The enterprises and the employees who escape from the trap of low earnings

In Part 2 we described the behavior of the cohort of employees persistently in employment in the period 2015-2022; in particular, we analyzed the exit of some individuals from conditions of low earnings. The focus was on the group of 878 thousand employees who improved their earning conditions starting from 2019 after experiencing low annual earnings in the years before. In this section we try to answer few questions: how did they get this result? Did they remain in the same enterprise? Or did they change employer in the same sector? Or, more drastically, did they change economic activity?

If we look at the distribution of these workers across NACE sections we observe that more than 70% of those employees improved its conditions by changing employer between 2015 and 2022 (Table 3.6)³³. By considering the characteristics of the employer at the beginning and at the end of the period, we see that this sub-population of employees moved towards sectors (such as industry, finance, transportation, human health, information generally characterized by higher annual gross earnings), and they moved from low earnings activities, like Horeca, support services and recreation where only less than 20% of 2015 employees succeeded to overcome the low earnings threshold. In Manufacturing, for instance, one third of employees remained with the same employer and more than 70% remained in the same NACE: something similar happened to those that in 2015 were employed in finance, or trade, transportation and human health. The case of construction is partly different: most employees changed employer remaining in the same sector.

Interesting details can also be observed considering the characteristics of the employer (Table 3.8). Here the change of employer regarded mostly employees that left micro-enterprises for larger businesses, in particular for medium enterprises. The change took place even for those who stayed with a same employer in all the previous years: changing employer was often associated with higher YGE or implied a shift towards more structured businesses (joint stock companies), away from individual firms and other partnerships.

The escape from low pay sectors is thus generally the only winning strategy from low earnings, since sectors where there are more opportunities to improve general pay conditions are few.

The origin-destination flows of who improved their conditions by changing NACE put in evidence frequent transitions to Manufacturing from support services, construction, trade and Horeca (Table 3.7). Also frequent are the transitions towards the rest of business services especially from manufacturing, and again construction, trade and Horeca.

		-					Same	lace				
		Numb	er of emplo	oyees	Tota	al	Same ent	erprise	Change er	nterprise	Change	Nace
Nac		2015	2021	% change	N	incid.%	Ν	incid.%	N	incid.%	Ν	incid.%
С	MANUFACTURING	140.095	203.895	45,5	101.233	72,3	46.013	32,8	55.220	39,4	38.862	27,7
B,D,	REST OF INDUSTRY	10.324	17.454	69,1	6.491	62,9	3.858	37,4	2.633	25,5	3.833	37,1
F	CONSTRUCTION	84.585	79.713	-5,8	55.700	65,9	16.956	20,0	38.744	45,8	28.885	34,1
G	TRADE	159.596	173.887	9,0	111.146	69,6	54.161	33,9	56.985	35,7	48.450	30,4
Н	TRANSPORTATION	71.487	84.543	18,3	47.809	66,9	19.688	27,5	28.121	39,3	23.678	33,1
I	HORECA	105.043	62.424	-40,6	50.675	48,2	19.934	19,0	30.741	29,3	54.368	51,8
J	INFORMATION	27.939	31.211	11,7	17.529	62,7	8.720	31,2	8.809	31,5	10.410	37,3
Κ	FINANCE	13.561	18.178	34,0	11.156	82,3	8.172	60,3	2.984	22,0	2.405	17,7
L,M	PROFESSIONAL	43.776	45.577	4,1	23.298	53,2	14.287	32,6	9.011	20,6	20.478	46,8
Ν	SUPPORT SERVICES	145.610	87.391	-40,0	47.579	32,7	16.362	11,2	31.217	21,4	98.031	67,3
Р	EDUCATION	5.669	5.847	3,1	3.784	66,7	2.959	52,2	825	14,6	1.885	33,3
Q	HUMAN HEALTH	38.682	44.944	16,2	32.524	84,1	18.267	47,2	14.257	36,9	6.158	15,9
R	RECREATION	11.240	6.103	-45,7	3.647	32,4	2.210	19,7	1.437	12,8	7.593	67,6
S	OTHER SERVICES	20.240	16.680	-17,6	11.444	56,5	6.370	31,5	5.074	25,1	8.796	43,5
Tota		877.847	877.847	0,0	524.015	59,7	237.957	27,1	286.058	32,6	353.832	40,3

Table 3.6

Notes: (a) Individuals aged 15-64 yrs. in the resident population (only residents in household, excludind those in retirement and entrepreneurs), in the pay-roll of enterprises persistently in the years 2015-2022.

³³ The fact that more than 40% had more than two employers in the period witnesses the mobility of these individuals.

Table 3.7

Cohoort of persistent 2015-2022 employees over the threshold of low earnings from 2019 who changed their Nace, by Nace 2015 and Nace 2021

					Nees 2021			
			1	1	Nace 2021		01	
							Other business	
			Other industry		Trade & Horeca	Communication &	services	Other personal
Nace	2015	Total	(B,C,D,E)	Construction (F)	(G, I)	Finance (J,K)	(H,L,M,N)	services (P,S)
С	MANUFACTURING	38.862	3,6	14,4	32,0	4,0	41,3	4,6
B,D,E	REST OF INDUSTRY	3.833	22,6	17,0	13,6	2,6	40,7	3,4
F	CONSTRUCTION	28.885	44,4		15,2	2,7	34,6	3,0
G	TRADE	48.450	37,4	6,8	5,2	9,1	34,4	7,1
Н	TRANSPORTATION	23.678	33,1	9,0	23,6	2,9	27,5	3,9
I.	HORECA	54.368	27,8	5,3	27,0	3,9	27,8	8,1
J	INFORMATION	10.410	21,1	4,3	20,5	6,4	41,2	6,6
К	FINANCE	2.405	17,3	3,7	21,0	11,1	40,7	6,1
L,M	PROFESSIONAL	20.478	26,3	6,8	23,5	18,3	18,4	6,8
Ν	SUPPORT SERVICES	98.031	44,9	6,4	21,1	5,1	16,7	5,8
Р	EDUCATION	1.885	15,3	2,7	17,8	10,7	30,1	23,4
Q	HUMAN HEALTH	6.158	20,2	3,8	22,5	4,7	36,3	12,5
R	RECREATION	7.593	22,3	6,6	30,6	6,3	26,6	7,7
S	OTHER SERVICES	8.796	25,1	5,5	24,0	5,1	30,3	10,0
Total		353.832	32,1	6,8	21,1	5,9	27,9	6,3

Sources: Istat, Business register 2015-2021, Income register (2015-2022), Population register (2015-2022)

Notes: (a) Individuals aged 15-64 yrs. in the resident population (only residents in household, excludind those in retirement and entrepreneurs), in the pay-roll of enterprises persistently in the years 2015-2022 Only employees above the threshold after 2019, and formerly below the threshold between 2015 and 2018.

Table 3.8

Cohoort of persistent 2015-2022 employees who passed over the threshold of low gross annual earnings from 2019, by business size, type of governance and year. Years 2015 and 2021

	Total	employees	6	With the s	same empl	oyer	Who cha	nged empl	oyer
	2015	2021	% ch.	2015	2021	% ch.	2015	2021	% ch
BUSINESS SIZE									
Micro (<10 pers.employed)	340.177	220.200	-35,3	97.175	82.320	-15,3	243.002	137.880	-43,3
Small (10-49 pers.employed)	210.222	246.616	17,3	55.180	62.615	13,5	155.042	184.001	18,7
Medium (50-249 pers.employed)	113.914	168.291	47,7	29.695	33.532	12,9	84.219	134.759	60,0
Large (>250 pers.employed)	213.534	242.740	13,7	55.907	59.490	6,4	157.627	183.250	16,3
Total	877.847	877.847	0,0	237.957	237.957	0,0	639.890	639.890	0,0
GOVERNANCE									
Individual firms	115.251	67.187	-41,7	28.578	28.578	0,0	86.673	38.609	-55,5
Other partnerships	100.543	78.689	-21,7	30.700	30.700	0,0	69.843	47.989	-31,3
Joint-stock companies	559.698	651.432	16,4	153.547	153.547	0,0	406.151	497.885	22,6
Other companies	102.355	80.539	-21,3	25.132	25.132	0,0	77.223	55.407	-28,3
Total	877.847	877.847	0,0	237.957	237.957	0,0	639.890	639.890	0,0
				+ +			-		

Sources: Istat, Business register 2015-2021, Income register (2015-2022), Population register (2015-2022)

Notes: (a) Individuals aged 15-64 yrs. in the resident population (only residents in household, excludind those in retirement and entrepreneurs), in the pay -roll of enterprises persistently in the years 2015-2022. Only employees above the threshold after 2019, and formerly below the threshold between 2015 and 2018.

3.6. Enterprises and the employees in trap of low earnings

Turning the attention to the complementary cohort of persistent workers who could never escape the low earnings trap, we see that they amount to 1.4 million, have a higher propensity to remain in the original sector and are more tied to the same employer over time (Table 3.9 vs. Table 3.6). When they moved to other sectors, they did it towards business and personal services sectors, included the weakest ones with respect to the level of YGE. Horeca and recreation were the activities progressively abandoned, in this case by more than 10% of those employees³⁴.

³⁴ Pandemics might have had a role in this unfavorable dynamics.

Compared to those who overcame low wages, these employees were generally more involved with microenterprises and with individual firms in 2015: in that year, a larger portion worked for Horeca enterprises. On average, they come from enterprises where earning levels were worse. Changes of employer, when they occurred, were prevalently addressed toward large-scale businesses and towards joint stock companies, while the flow towards medium sized businesses was quite shallow. These evidences suggest a certain difficulty to move across sectors and some difficulties in escaping low pay also when moving to large services enterprises, especially when (as we saw in Part 2) part-time and fixed term jobs tend to prevail.

Table 3.9

		_		_			Samel	Vace				
		Num	ber of emplo	oyees	Tota	al	Same en	terprise	Change er	nterprise	Change	Nace
Nace		2015	2021	% change	N	incid.%	N	incid.%	N	incid.%	N	incid.%
С	MANUFACTURING	195.802	189.437	-3,3	134.894	68,9	71.037	36,3	63.857	32,6	60.908	31,1
B,D,E	REST OF INDUSTRY	9.716	12.216	25,7	5.350	55,1	3.179	32,7	2.171	22,3	4.366	44,9
F	CONSTRUCTION	76.837	82.517	7,4	52.892	68,8	16.166	21,0	36.726	47,8	23.945	31,2
G	TRADE	236.838	233.713	-1,3	168.590	71,2	85.513	36,1	83.077	35,1	68.248	28,8
Н	TRANSPORTATION	76.643	83.668	9,2	47.132	61,5	16.304	21,3	30.828	40,2	29.511	38,5
I .	HORECA	312.660	272.798	-12,7	222.399	71,1	80.396	25,7	142.003	45,4	90.261	28,9
J	INFORMATION	21.906	23.280	6,3	12.806	58,5	7.454	34,0	5.352	24,4	9.100	41,5
K	FINANCE	11.233	12.221	8,8	9.003	80,1	5.991	53,3	3.012	26,8	2.230	19,9
L,M	PROFESSIONAL	57.475	64.129	11,6	38.186	66,4	24.969	43,4	13.217	23,0	19.289	33,6
Ν	SUPPORT SERVICES	227.672	247.015	8,5	150.236	66,0	46.833	20,6	103.403	45,4	77.436	34,0
Р	EDUCATION	8.927	10.320	15,6	6.677	74,8	5.066	56,7	1.611	18,0	2.250	25,2
Q	HUMAN HEALTH	87.003	98.999	13,8	74.431	85,5	43.638	50,2	30.793	35,4	12.572	14,5
R	RECREATION	25.782	21.718	-15,8	12.820	49,7	7.331	28,4	5.489	21,3	12.962	50,3
S	OTHER SERVICES	56.843	53.306	-6,2	41.016	72,2	23.964	42,2	17.052	30,0	15.827	27,8
Tota		1.405.337	1.405.337	0,0	976.432	69,5	437.841	31,2	538.591	38,3	428.905	30,5

Sources: Istat, Business register 2015-2021, Income register (2015-2022), Population register (2015-2022) Notes: (a) Individuals aged 25-60 yrs. in 2022 resident population (only residents in household, excludind those

Table 3.10

Cohoort of persistent 2015-2022 employees never permanently above the threshold of low earnings, by business size, type of governance and year. Years 2015 and 2021

	Tota	l employees	5		With the	same empl	oyer	Who cha	anged empl	oyer
	2015	2021	% ch.		2015	2021	% ch.	2015	2021	% ch
BUSINESS SIZE										
Micro (<10 pers.employed)	606.265	548.785	-9,5		220.452	213.245	-3,3	385.813	335.540	-13,0
Small (10-49 pers.employed)	331.511	331.714	0,1		89.364	92.522	3,5	242.147	239.192	-1,2
Medium (50-249 pers.employed)	178.013	180.462	1,4		45.924	45.679	-0,5	132.089	134.783	2,0
Large (>250 pers.employed)	289.548	344.376	18,9		82.101	86.395	5,2	207.447	257.981	24,4
Total	1.405.337	1.405.337	0,0		437.841	437.841	0,0	967.496	967.496	0,0
GOVERNANCE										
Individual firms	261.634	224.439	-14,2		99.818	99.818	0,0	161.816	124.621	-23,0
Other partnerships	206.237	177.851	-13,8		77.554	77.554	0,0	128.683	100.297	-22,1
Joint-stock companies	744.848	827.439	11,1		203.559	203.559	0,0	541.289	623.880	15,3
Other companies	192.618	175.608	-8,8		56.910	56.910	0,0	135.708	118.698	-12,5
Total	1.405.337	1.405.337	0,0		437.841	437.841	0,0	967.496	967.496	0,0
Sources: Istat, Business register 2015-2021, Inc	ome register (20	15-2022), Popul	lation regis	ter	(2015-2022)					

Notes: (a) Individuals aged 25-60 yrs. in 2022 resident population (only residents in household, excludind those in refirement and entrepreneurs), in the pay -roll of enterprises persistently in the years 2015-2022. Only employees above the threshold after 2019, and formerly below the threshold between 2015 and 2018.

Concluding remarks

The analysis carried out in this paper uses for the first time a relatively large 2015-2022 longitudinal dataset deriving from the integration of ISTAT's statistical registers on population, incomes and businesses. It delivers a rather critical picture of the wage conditions of more than 20 million of Italian employees distributed in four economic sectors: public sector, private (industry and services), agriculture and domestic workers. The study concerns both the levels and the dynamics of labour incomes. The most critical issues regard domestic and

agricultural work: in these sectors more than 70 percent of employees have yearly labor incomes of less than 10,000 euros. These activities are notoriously characterized by a high incidence of non-regular or "grey" employment that emphasize the effects of low wages. They are also sectors where public intervention plays a prominent role in supporting employees' income indirectly by financing their employers with fiscal incentives, a further element helping to explain the low level of wages.

More varied is the picture emerging from the analysis of the largest segment of employees relating to the nonagricultural private sector. In this case, given also the size of the activities (we talk about 15 million individuals), some specializations related to low-wage workers can be identified. Some service sectors evidently generate poorly paid labor: this is the case, for instance, in accommodation and food service activities and personal services, where median incomes are just over 10 thousand euros. Nevertheless, there are other business services activities that offer rather poor wages, such as temporary employment agencies, cleaning and security services where the presence of intense outsourcing commissioned by medium and large economic units amplifies the spread of low paid work. The seven NACE divisions with the highest rate of low-earners (recreation and sports, food and beverage, accommodation, services to buildings, personal services, education, and employment and recruiting agencies) explain more than a half of total employees below the threshold of yearly gross earnings. Industry is more rarely involved in low earnings, although food and textile industries are - like construction - more risky with their relatively higher rate of low-wage earners.

More generally, the economic activities where yearly gross earnings are lower are also those where hourly gross earnings are lower. Although an adequate level in hourly earnings is a necessary condition to have decent yearly earnings, we argue that poor work remains essentially a problem of low incomes from work: duration and intensity of labour contract is often insufficient to sustain individual earnings. Low income of employees depends on the quality of their jobs. When quality is scarce, and contracts are short-termed or with a low intensity, for a large part of employees low-earnings become a sort of a trap, a sort of a swamp from which it is difficult to get out. The exit from the low-earning condition is most of the times the only escape from the enterprises and the economic activities that offer low quality jobs. Job quality, though, is also an issue relating the quality of the employer: for people who succeed to escape the low-earnings trap it is often fundamental to work in enterprises that grows in size and performance.

Given this picture, we think that further steps of this research could be dedicated to a large amount of subjects. We highlight just a few of them. On the one hand, the role of the employer in the employees earnings dynamics needs to be more exploited: the evolution of its profit & loss accounts, the characteristics of its workforce, the distribution of earnings among employees , the type of reference market (local or foreign). On the other hand, some light must be shed over the interactions between low-earnings and the Government support to individual incomes: the short but meaningful and troubled story of these measures in Italy interacts with the events in the labour market for a large set of employees. We already know what comes from the most critical service sectors but a deeper exploitation of the longitudinal information delivered by the statistical registers can really support a better knowledge of these welfare policy issues. Finally, geographic aspects of the issues need to be revealed by placing on the territory low-wage earners and their employers.

References

Anitori P., De Gregorio C., Esposito L., Fioroni L., Giordano A., Pintaldi F. 2019. Income and job trajectories of Italian employees: an analysis of longitudinal indicators obtained through the micro integration of LFS and statistical registers. Meeting of the Group of Experts on Measuring Quality of Employment, Session 5a: Country experiences, 6-8 november, Geneva

Atkinson A.B. 2008. The Changing Distribution of Earnings in OECD Countries. Oxford university press.

Bavaro M, Raitano M. 2023. Is working enough to escape poverty? Evidence on low-paid workers in Italy. ECINEQ, Society for the study of economic inequality, September.

Bavaro M. 2022. Is working enough? A study on low-paid workers in Italy. WorkINPS Papers n. 52.

- Crettaz E., Bonoli G. 2010. Why are Some Workers Poor? The Mechanisms that Produce Working Poverty in a Comparative Perspective. REC-WP Working Papers on the Reconciliation of Work and Welfare in Europe No. 12-2010
- De Gregorio C., Giordano A. 2014. "Nero a metà": contratti part-time e posizioni full-time fra i dipendenti delle imprese italiane ("Half black": part-time contracts and full-time jobs of the employees of Italian firms). Istat Working Paper n. 3.
- De Gregorio C., Giordano A. 2016. The heterogeneity of undeclared work in Italy: some results from the statistical integration of survey and administrative sources. Rivista di Statistica Ufficiale n. 2.
- De Gregorio C., Giordano A., Siciliani I. 2021. Intensity and income distribution effects of job retention schemes in Italy during Covid-19 pandemic. Group of Experts on Quality of Employment 09 18 November 2021 Session 1: Quality of employment during the Covid-19 pandemic and after
- Eurofound 2017. In-work poverty in the EU. Publications Office of the European Union, Luxembourg
- Filandri M., Struffolino E. 2019. Individual and household in-work poverty in Europe: understanding the role of labor market characteristics, European Societies, 21:1, 130-157
- Grimshaw D. 2011. What do we know about low-wage work and low-wage workers? Analysing the definitions, patterns, causes and consequences in international perspective. ILO, Conditions of Work and Employment Series No. 28. Geneva
- Halleröd B., Ekbrand H., Bengtsson M. 2015. In-work poverty and labour market trajectories: Poverty risks among the working population in 22 European countries. Journal of European Social Policy, vol 25/5
- ILO 2016a Non-standard employment around the world: Understanding challenges, shaping prospects. Geneva
- ILO. 2016b. Minimum Wage Policy Guide
- ILO. 2020. Global wage report 2020-2021 Wages and minimum wages in the time of covid-19
- ILO. 2021. Guida sulle politiche sul salario minimo (Minimum Wage Policy Guide)
- ILO. 2022a. Social dialogue report Collective bargaining for an inclusive sustainable and resilient recovery
- ILO. 2022b. Rapporto mondiale sui salari 2022-23. Una panoramica sull'andamento dei salari in Italia
- Istat. 2019. Qualità dell'occupazione e struttura delle imprese (Job quality and business structure). In: Rapporto annuale, ch.5.3.
- Istat. 2022. Disuguaglianze nelle retribuzioni (Earnings inequalities). In: Rapporto annuale sulla situazione del paese. Par.4.2. Pagg. 222-232.
- Istat. 2023. Cambiamenti nel mercato del lavoro e investimenti in capitale umano (Changes in the labor market and investment in human capital). In: Rapporto annuale sulla situazione del paese. Ch.2.
- Jansson B., Broström L. 2020. Who is counted as in-work poor? Testing five different definitions when measuring in-work poverty in Sweden 1987–2017
- Marucci M., De Minicis M. 2019. In-work poverty, precarious work and indebtedness. The steady state European equilibrium?
- Ministero del lavoro 2021. Relazione del gruppo di lavoro sugli interventi e le misure di contrasto alla povertà lavorativa in Italia (Relazione sull'economia non osservata e sull'evasione fiscale e contributiva. Anno 2023)

- Ministero dell'economia. 2023. Relazione sull'economia non osservata e sull'evasione fiscale e contributiva. Anno 2023 (Report on the non observed economy and tax evasion. Year 2023)
- Raitano, M., Jessoula M., Pavolini, E., Natili, M. 2019. In-work poverty in Italy. European Social Policy Network (ESPN), Brussels: European Commission
- Unece. 2011. Canberra Group Handbook on Household Income Statistics. Second Edition. United Nations, Geneva.
- Unece. 2015. Handbook on Measuring Quality of Employment. A statistical framework. United Nations, New York and Geneva